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To provide co-op members with the best possible services re-
lating to daily payment transactions, savings and the financing 
of purchases.

S-BANK’S VISION
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S-BANK IN BRIEF
S-Bank is S Group’s own bank. S-Bank is also the only in-store bank in Finland. Its oper-

ations are based on user-friendly products, rapid and active service, transparent pricing, 

easy accessibility, and cooperation with the store.

S-Bank aims to make everyday life easier for co-op members by offering affordable bank 

services relating to daily payment transactions, savings and the financing of purchases. 

S-Bank’s products and services are aimed at S-Etukortti card users. S-Etukortti is not only 

a symbol of co-op membership, but also a versatile international payment card. S-Bank’s 

secure account options are well suited to dealing with daily payment transactions and 

savings. Customers can pay bills and deal with their other payment transactions through 

an easy-to-use online bank. S-Bank’s credit range consists of affordable Visa credit, 

S-Tuoteluotto credit payable in instalments at S Group, flexible S-Joustoluotto credit, 

and S-Laina credit that covers financing needs up to EUR 20,000.

S-Bank’s banking transactions can be dealt with during regular shopping trips. Its offices 

are located at different S Group outlets around Finland. Furthermore, customers can make 

the most of online banking services and customer service by telephone. 

S-Bank is fully in Finnish ownership. It is owned by SOK Corporation (50%) and S Group’s 

cooperatives (total 50%). S-Bank was awarded the Key Flag logo in recognition of the 

company’s Finnish origins. 

S-BANK’S KEY NUMBERS AT THE END OF 2012

2.6 million customers

EUR 2,473 million in deposits

1.1 million S-Etukortti Visa cards

1.2 million e-service users

19.4% as capital adequacy ratio

EUR 6.4 million as the result



S-Bank provides us, the co-op members, with 
banking services free of charge. We deal with 
our bank transactions conveniently in connec-
tion with shopping or through online banking. 
When we pay with the S-Bank card, we get not 
only a payment method-related benefit, but also 
the Bonus.

CO-OP  
MEMBERS  
OWN BANK



77

S-Bank has continued with its deposit banking operations for five years and gained a firm 

foothold in the Finnish banking sector. Proof of this is both S-Bank’s constantly increasing 

number of customers and steadily growing visibility. An increasing number of Finns regard 

S-Bank as an option worth consideration when choosing bank partners.

After five operating years, it is worthwhile to review our achievements so far and look to 

the future. We revised S-Bank’s customer strategy and specified our goals for the future 

in the past year. The purpose of our operations, to provide co-op members with benefits, 

has produced a medium-term goal that was entered in our customer strategy: to provide 

customers with the maximum benefit through banking services.

The development of customer benefits calls for the capability of listening attentively to 

customer wishes and needs. We have shared everyday challenges and actively discussed 

with our customers, for instance on Facebook and Twitter, in the past year. 

Positive feedback from our customers will encourage us to continue with these activities. 

It is particularly delightful to note that those who have used our services actively were 

also the most satisfied with them. EPSI Rating published a customer satisfaction study 

focused on banks in October. According to this study, S-Bank’s customers evaluate 

S-Bank’s products to be of the best quality. We have also discovered this in our own 

studies. In addition, customers felt that their own bank offers the best value for their 

money. I am especially proud of the third number-one ranking in customer loyalty that 

we gained in the EPSI study. This means that we are on the right track.  

S-Bank’s operating result for 2012 totalled EUR 6.4 

million. Financial performance was as expected in 2012 

although the result decreased from the previous year. 

We operate in a challenging environment in which the 

attainment of results requires more strenuous efforts 

from us than before due to the low interest rates that 

have remained in effect for an exceptionally long time, 

the costs caused by stronger regulation, and the bank tax 

valid from the beginning of 2013.

Pekka Ylihurula
Managing Director, S-Bank

REVIEW BY THE MANAGING DIRECTOR:

Customer benefits offered 
for five years already



Co-op members’  
own bank
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S-Bank’s fifth operating year included a 

number of significant events. At the end of 

March, S-Bank passed the milestone of one 

million Visa card users. At the beginning of 

April, we expanded our credit range with the 

S-Laina credit product, which covers financ-

ing needs up to EUR 20,000. In autumn, 

we introduced new gift vouchers in which 

the user does not have to use the whole 

amount loaded on the card all at once. We 

also improved our online banking system 

to better meet the needs of our customers.  

The interest shown by co-op members in 

S-Bank’s services that are based on the 

S-Etukortti Visa card continued in 2012 

and the number of S-Bank’s customers 

continued to grow. At the end of the year, 

S-Bank had a little less than 2.6 million 

customers.

In 2012, nearly 200,000 customers were 

granted the S-Etukortti Visa payment card. 

At the end of the year, the number of issued 

S-Etukortti Visa cards was over 1.1 mil-

lion and nearly 1.2 million customers had 

started to use S-Bank’s online banking IDs.

At the end of the year, the amount of depos-

its by private customers at S-Bank totalled 

EUR 2,336 million. Corporate deposits 

included, S-Bank’s total funds on deposit 

were EUR 2,473 million at year-end; i.e. at 

the same level as in 2011.

Customers have recently become more 

aware of S-Bank’s affordable credit 

products. Lending to private customers 

increased by EUR 37 million, standing at 

EUR 241 million at year-end.

S-Bank Group’s operating result totalled 

EUR 6.4 million and the capital adequacy 

ratio was 19.4 per cent at year-end.

2012

9

WE, THE CO-OP MEMBERS, GET A BENE-
FIT EVERY TIME WE PAY WITH THE CARD
When we pay with the S-Etukortti card, we get a 
half a per cent payment method benefit for nearly 
all the goods bought from S Group stores.



2012

Financial  
statements
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Early in 2012, athe European Central Bank’s fiscal policy 

stabilised confidence in the European economy, and thus 

reduced additional credit risks. The notification by the 

European Central Bank of a government loan purchase 

programme further curbed growth in the loan interest of the 

countries in crisis. The European Central Bank reduced its 

main interest rate in July and new reductions in interest 

rates were expected to take place in 2013. As a result, 

short-term market interest rates will remain low.

Report of the Executive Board
1.1.–31.12.2012

Economic growth in Finland slowed down during the year 

as a result of the sluggish growth in demand in the home 

market. Inflation accelerated at the beginning of the year 

but decelerated to a level around two per cent by the end 

of the year. Economic growth is expected to remain weak 

in 2013. However, gradual growth will be visible during the 

latter part of the year.

Operating environment

11



12

KEY FINANCIAL INDICATORS (EUR MILLION) 12/2012 12/2011 12/2010

Net interest income 49.0 51.5 38.3

Net fee and commission income 10.5 8.9 7.4

Other income 8.9 -1.8 15.4

Net income (EUR million) 68.4 58.7 61.2

Operating expenses -61.0 -50.1 -45.8

Credit and impairment losses -1.0 -0.7 -2.9

Operating profit/loss (EUR million) 6.4 7.9 12.5

Borrowing 2 770.5 2 673.1 2 452.0

Lending to the public 360.0 300.8 299.0

Debt securities 2 382.1 2 269.7 2 096.7

Cost/income ratio 0.89 0.85 0.75

Return on equity 2.7% 4.4% 7.7%

Return on assets 0.2% 0.2% 0.5%

Equity ratio 6.7% 5.2% 6.1%

Capital adequacy ratio 19.4% 16.3% 20.8%

Financial performance and profitability
S-Bank’s financial performance for 2012 was good. How-

ever, operating profit was affected by low interest rate levels 

and increased expenses due to operational development, 

and thus it decreased by EUR 1.5 million from the previous 

year. The operating profit for 2012 was EUR 6.4 million 

(7.9). The profit for the period after taxes totalled EUR 4.8 

million (7.0)

Capital adequacy strengthened clearly from the previous 

year. Besides its operating result, the increase in the bank’s 

own funds was above all attributable to a favourable devel-

opment in the fair value reserve, and the capital adequacy 

ratio was 19.4 per cent (16.3).

Financial standing

The decreased operating result weakened S-Bank’s cost/

income ratio compared to the previous year, to 0.89 (0.85). 

As a result of the increase in equity, the return on equity 

fell to 2.7 per cent (4.4). The return on assets remained at 

the previous year’s level, standing at 0.2 per cent (0.2).

The financial statements drawn up for the financial year 

2012 are S-Bank’s second consolidated financial state-

ments. The comparison data for 2010 are presented only 

for S-Bank Ltd.
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Income
Net income increased year-on-year, totalling EUR 68.4 

million (58.7), as net interest income constituted the most 

significant item of net income. The low interest rates 

affected the bank’s net interest income, which decreased 

from the previous year, standing at EUR 49.0 million 

(51.5). Income in net interest income consisted mainly of 

investments in money and capital markets, but the interest 

income from credit card and credit products also played a 

significant role. Interest expenses consisted mainly of inter-

est on deposits paid to customers.

The development of net fee and commission income con-

tinued to be strong. It showed an increase of EUR 1.6 

million (1.5) from the previous year. The net fee and com-

mission income generated through card and consumer 

credit business, borrowing, and payment transactions 

totalled EUR 10.5 million (8.9) in 2012. Other income 

totalled EUR 8.9 million (-1.8), consisting of net income 

from financial assets available for sale, net income from 

securities trading, other operating income, net income from 

hedge accounting and net income from investment property 

with such indirect entries as all income and expenses from 

the bank’s two real estate subsidiaries. As a result of real-

ising debt securities, net income from financial assets 

available for sale totalled EUR 16.7 million (1.7). As a 

result of derivatives recognised at fair value through profit 

and loss, net income from securities trading decreased to 

EUR -13.4 million (-7.3). Other operating income stood at 

EUR 5.1 million (3.6), including income produced by ser-

vices offered to cooperative enterprises by a subsidiary that 

has concentrated on the bank’s customer service as a result 

of the consolidation in the financial statements. Such 

income totalled EUR 1.8 million (1.6). Net income from 

hedge accounting started at the end of the financial period 

totalled EUR 0.0 million and net income from investment 

properties totalled EUR 0.5 million (0.4).

Expenses
The development of and increase in operations resulted in 

increased expenses as well. Operational expenses totalled 

EUR 61.0 million (50.1). The most significant individual 

expense item was IT and Information Management, total-

ling EUR 15.0 million (13.8). Other administrative 

expenses totalled EUR 38.8 million (30.6), including, 

besides IT and Information Management expenses, other 

significant items, such as commissions paid to S Group 

cooperatives acting as agents, and marketing costs.

Personnel expenses totalled EUR 14.2 million (12.1). The 

growth compared to the previous year is attributable to an 

increase in the number of employees.

Depreciation for the period amounted to EUR 4.3 million 

(4.1). Other operating expenses, totalling EUR 3.8 million 

(3.3), consisted of leases and rents for office premises, 

machinery and equipment, vehicle expenses and contribu-

tion payments for the Deposit Guarantee Fund.

Credit and impairment losses
Credit and impairment losses remained at a low level in 

2012 due to a favourable clientele structure as well as effi-

cient credit monitoring and collection measures. Net loss 

recognised for the period totalled EUR 1.0 million (0.7). 

Recovery of credit losses amounted to EUR 1.5 million (2.8).

Borrowing
Fierce competition for deposits continued, but S-Bank’s 

market share remained unchanged in deposits by private 

customers. Customers began to favour demand accounts 

over fixed-term deposits. At year-end, the amount of demand 

deposits totalled EUR 1,829.7 million (1,702.7), and the 

amount of fixed-term deposits totalled EUR 506.6 million 

(669.0). At year-end, the amount of corporate deposits 

totalled EUR 134.3 million (101.4). On the balance sheet 

date, borrowing totalled EUR 2,770.5 million (2,673.1).

Investment business and lending
S-Bank invested a major part of its capital in the money 

and capital markets. At the end of the financial period, 

S-Bank’s debt securities totalled EUR 2,382.1 million 

(2,269.7), of which the debt securities eligible for refinanc-

ing with central banks accounted for EUR 1,943.9 million 

(1,840.3). New products and increased interest in S-Bank’s 

products increased lending consisting of card and con-

sumption credit receivables, as well as account receivables 

and working capital limit receivables. On the balance sheet 

date, lending totalled EUR 360.0 million (300.8).

Equity
Equity was EUR 207.8 million (151.2) at the end of the 

financial year. In addition to the result, equity was above 

all increased by a significant improvement in the fair value 

reserve. The fair value reserve was EUR 35.5 million (-16.3) 

at the end of the financial period. 

Because of the growth of equity, the bank’s equity ratio rose 

to 6.7 per cent (5.2).
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Disclosure of capital adequacy information 
In Finland, banking operations and related risks are regu-

lated through the monitoring of capital adequacy, for 

instance. The capital adequacy framework is comprised of 

three interlinked entities, or pillars. Pillar I defines the 

minimum requirement for capital adequacy; Pillar II obli-

gates the bank to draw up an overall evaluation of its risk 

profile and the adequacy of its own funds in relation to 

these risks; and Pillar III contains the information on the 

bank’s risks that is disclosed to the public. In accordance 

with Pillar III, capital adequacy information should be 

disclosed at least once per year, taking the principle of 

materiality into consideration.

S-Bank observes the information disclosure requirement by 

publishing information of the capital adequacy of its own 

funds once per year in the Report of the Executive Board. 

As regards different types of risks and risk management, 

the information is published in the Notes to the Financial 

Statements. In special situations, the information on cap-

ital adequacy is also published in the Interim Report. Such 

a special situation is realised if the company is capitalised 

outside the capital plan. An Interim Report is published 

once per year, for the period covering the first six months 

of the year.

S-Bank does not disclose information relating to the capital 

adequacy requirement for the market risk since S-Bank 

does not hold a trading portfolio in accordance with the 

minimum capital adequacy requirements.

Own funds
Own funds can be divided into Tier I, Tier II and other own 

funds. S-Bank’s own funds consist of Tier I and Tier II funds 

and items deducted from Tier I own funds. S-Bank does not 

have items categorised as other own funds.

Tier I own funds are freely and immediately available for 

covering unexpected losses. S-Bank’s Tier I own funds 

consist of restricted and unrestricted equity items and 

retained earnings.

Restricted equity within Tier I funds consists of share equity 

and the share premium reserve. In addition, Tier I funds 

consist of invested non-restricted equity reserve, retained 

earnings and S-Bank’s voluntary provisions with the deferred 

tax liability deducted. In a consolidated company, such 

Capital adequacy

appropriations are reversed and returned to the financial 

result with the deferred tax liability deducted. S-Bank’s Tier 

I own funds are categorised as non-restricted own funds in 

full, which means that the bank has full power of decision 

over the repayment of the funds and over the dividends to 

be distributed on them.

The unamortised portion of the acquisition costs of intan-

gible assets is deducted from Tier I own funds.

S-Bank’s Tier II own funds consist of the fair value reserve 

and two loans on debenture terms. The fair value reserve is 

included in upper Tier II own funds less deferred taxes in 

accordance with the corporate tax rate. In accordance with 

the prudence principle, the negative fair value reserve is 

taken into consideration in Tier II own funds without 

deferred tax assets. 

S-Bank does not have items categorised as deductible from 

Tier II own funds or jointly from Tier I and Tier II own funds.

Management of capital adequacy
The management of S-Bank’s capital adequacy is described 

in the risk management policy that has been confirmed by 

the bank’s Executive Board. It is updated at least annually 

or whenever changes calling for an update take place in the 

bank’s operations.

Management of capital adequacy is part of S-Bank’s annual 

strategy process. The process of managing capital adequacy 

is based on comprehensive identification and analysis of 

both risks caused by changes in the external operating 

environment and other risks, and aims to prevent any neg-

ative impact resulting from these risks on the bank’s busi-

ness operations. The amount of own funds required by 

S-Bank depends on the risk-taking willingness and level 

specified in the strategy, as well as identified risks.

The management of capital adequacy is based on risk 

analyses conducted on credit, market and operational risks 

in accordance with minimum capital requirements. In addi-

tion, risk analyses include risks considered to belong only 

partially under Pillar I (calculation of minimum capital 

adequacy) or remain completely outside Pillar I. Together 

with the strategic objectives and operational concept spec-

ified by the bank’s Executive Board and the risk-taking 
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willingness derived therefrom, the risk analyses constitute 

the risk-based capital need that the Executive Board con-

firms as part of its annual capital plan. In addition to cap-

ital requirements, the capital plan describes the acquisition 

of any supplementary capital that may be needed, as well 

as measures to be taken in dealing with unexpected situa-

tions that affect capital adequacy. 

The minimum capital adequacy for the bank’s own funds 

under Pillar I is mainly attributable to credit risk. In the 

calculation of the minimum capital adequacy for its own 

funds, S-Bank applies the standard method for credit and 

market risk, and the basic method for operational risks. 

Owing to the nature of operations, the bank did not allocate 

its own funds to market risk during the financial year 2012. 

As regards credit risk, S-Bank estimated on the basis of its 

risk profile that the bank’s own funds cover the risk-based 

capital requirement under Pillar II. The same applies to 

operational risks, as the minimum requirement for the bank’s 

own funds in the net income-based operational risks increases 

with the increase in operations, and the risk-based capital 

requirement is not estimated to exceed this requirement.

As regards market risks, risks in the external operating 

environment, operational concentration risks and liquidity 

risks, S-Bank considers that the bank’s own funds cover the 

risk-based capital requirement for these risks.

S-Bank’s minimum capital adequacy target is 15 per cent. 

The calculation of the capital adequacy ratio is presented 

at the end of the report. S-Bank closely monitors the devel-

opment of its balance sheet structure and undertakes meas-

ures immediately if its capital adequacy or own funds are 

in danger of falling below the minimum target set by the 

bank itself. Meeting the target is ensured by restricting or 

decreasing the risk. Secondarily, the Board decides on how 

to increase the bank’s own funds.

OWN FUNDS (EUR MILLION)       12/2012       12/2011

Group Bank Bank Group

Tier I own funds without deduction items 172.3 172.1 167.5 167.3

Share capital 33.5 33.5 33.5 33.5

Share premium reserve 21.2 21.2 21.2 21.2

Invested non-restricted equity reserve 104.4 104.4 104.4 104.4

Voluntary provisions  2.8  2.5

Retained earnings     

Profit/loss from previous periods 8.3 5.7 1.4 -1.1

Profit/loss for the financial period 4.8 4.5 7.0 6.8

Deduction items     

Intangible assets 12.6 12.5  12.8 12.7 

Tier I own funds total 159.8 159.6 154.7 154.6

Tier II own funds 55.5 55.5 -1.6 -1.6 

Fair value reserve 35.5 35.5 -21.6 -21.6

Debentures 20.0 20.0 20.0 20.0 

Own funds total 215.2 215.1 153.1 153.0

Capital adequacy ratio 19.4% 19.4% 16.3% 16.3%

Capital adequacy ratio for Tier I own funds 14.4% 14.4% 16.5% 16.5%
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MINIMUM AMOUNT OF OWN FUNDS  
(EUR MILLION)       12/2012      12/2011

Minimum capital adequacy requirement for credit risk
Exposure  

value
Own  

funds
Exposure  

value
Own  

funds

Claims or contingent claims on central governments or 
central banks 196.1 0.7 252.0 0.1

Claims or contingent claims on regional governments or 
local authorities 19.4 0.0 9.7 0.0

Claims or contingent claims on administrative bodies 
and non-commercial undertakings 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Claims or contingent claims on multilateral  development 
banks 5.4 0.0 5.2 0.0

Claims or contingent claims on institutions* 1 851.5 33.6 1 754.7 30.1

Claims or contingent claims on corporates 228.7 17.8 188.8 14.2

Retail claims or contingent retail claims 237.3 14.2 198.1 11.9

Claims or contingent claims secured on real estate 
property 2.6 0.1 3.1 0.1

Past due items 10.3 1.2 9.7 1.2

Claims in the form of covered bonds 303.7 2.8 259.0 2.2

Claims in the form of collective investment undertakings 83.6 6.7 74.0 5.9

Other items 40.0 1.4 36.5 1.8

Off-balance sheet commitments 659.0 2.6 584.2 1.5

Total 3 637.5 81.2 3 375.1 69.0

Minimum capital adequacy requirement  
for credit risk, total  81.2  69.0 

Minimum capital adequacy requirement  
for market risk  Noth. to report  Noth. to report

Minimum capital adequacy requirement  
for operational risks  7.8  6.1 

Minimum amount of own funds, total  89.0  75.1

*For derivatives, the exposure value takes into account the exposure value of the counterparty credit risk.

The Group’s capital adequacy improved from the previous 

year due to an increase in the bank’s own funds, and the 

capital adequacy ratio was 19.4 per cent (16.3). In addi-

tion, the minimum requirement for the bank’s own funds 

increased due to an increase in the balance sheet and 

risk-weighted receivables. At the end of the financial year, 

the Group’s own funds totalled EUR 215.2 million (153.1), 

whereas the minimum requirement for its own funds was 

EUR 89.0 million (75.1). These own funds were most 

significantly tied by the credit risk capital adequacy require-

ment and its items, such as “Claims or contingent claims 

on institutions”,“Claims or contingent claims on corpo-

rates” and “Retail claims or contingent retail claims”. The 

figures are nearly the same with S-Bank Ltd, as the impor-

tance of subsidiaries subject to consolidation is insignifi-

cant in own funds and capital adequacy because of their 

operational nature and minor balance sheet level.
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Administration
General meetings  
The Annual General Meeting was held on 10 April 2012. 

The meeting adopted the financial statements for 2011 

and released the Executive Board and Managing Director 

from liability. The meeting resolved not to distribute any 

dividend. The number of Executive Board members was 

confirmed as six, and the members were nominated. It was 

decided that there will be one auditor. KPMG Oy Ab, 

Authorised Public Accountants, was elected as auditor.  

Executive Board
YThe General Meeting of Shareholders confirms the number 

of members in the Executive Board and nominates them for 

a term of one year. The Board shall elect the Chairman and 

Vice-Chairman from among its members. The Executive 

Board has rules of procedure, duly confirmed, according to 

which the Executive Board is responsible for the bank’s 

strategic development, the steering and control of its oper-

ations and for deciding on the company’s main operating 

principles and general values in accordance with applicable 

legislation and regulations.

The Executive Board shall manage the bank in a professional 

manner in compliance with healthy and good banking prac-

tices. The Board meets at least eight (8) times per year. 

At the Annual General Meeting, the following persons were 

re-elected as the members of the S-Bank Executive Board: 

Jari Annala, Senior Vice President, CFO; Matti Niemi, Man-

aging Director; Veli-Matti Puutio, Managing Director; Arto 

Piela, Managing Director; Juha Ahola, Senior Vice Presi-

dent, SOK Finance; and Arttu Laine, Managing Director as 

a new member. Folke Lindström, Commercial Counsellor, 

resigned from the Executive Board. The Executive Board 

elected Jari Annala as Chairman and Arto Piela as Vice 

Chairman. However, Arto Piela resigned from the bank’s 

Executive Board in October, after which the five remaining 

Board members have continued with their operations in 

compliance with the Articles of Association.

The Executive Board convened 13 (14) times during the 

financial year, and the average rate of attendance was 86.8 

per cent (92.9). The Board members received no meeting fees.

Operations of S-Bank’s 
subsidiaries
S-Asiakaspalvelu Oy 
S-Asiakaspalvelu Oy is a wholly-owned subsidiary of S-Bank. 

Established on 8 August 2007, S-Asiakaspalvelu provides 

data processing and other services related to a credit insti-

tution’s core operations as a service company pursuant to 

the Credit Institutions Act (9.2.2007/121). 

S-Asiakaspalvelu’s revenue for the financial period was EUR 

5.5 million (4.7), of which EUR 3.7 million (3.1) was intra-

group revenue. Other revenue consisted of telephone ser-

vices for co-op members offered to cooperative enterprises. 

Expenses mainly related to personnel, and the company had 

104 employees (84) on the payroll at the end of the year. 

S-Asiakaspalvelu’s operating profit was EUR 0.0 million (0).

Property companies
In 2011, S-Bank acquired the entire share capital of two 

mutual property companies: Kiinteistö Oy Limingan Termi-

naali and Kiinteistö Oy Lempäälän Terminaali. The business 

branch of these companies is to own and manage, in 

accordance with the articles of associations, space and a 

parcel of land and the industrial and terminal properties 

due to be built on them.

The logistics terminals were completed and came into use 

in 2009 and 2010. Both of them have Inex Partners Oy as 

the lessee with a long-term lease. This company is part of 

SOK Corporation. 

Income and expenses allocated to the mutual property 

companies are mainly recognised in net income from 

investment properties at S-Bank Group and S-Bank Ltd.
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Managing Director
The bank’s Executive Board appoints the Managing Director. 

The Managing Director is responsible for the bank’s routine 

management duties in accordance with the instructions and 

regulations issued by the Executive Board, applicable legis-

lation and regulations, the Articles of Association and the 

Managing Director’s Charter. The Managing Director acts as 

Chairman of the Management Team appointed by the Exec-

utive Board. The Management Team is a body that assists the 

Managing Director in exercising his decision-making power. 

If the Managing Director is prevented from attending to his 

duties, they are carried out by the Managing Director’s deputy.

From 22 June 2006, Pekka Ylihurula has acted as S-Bank 

Ltd’s Managing Director. General Counsel Veli-Matti Par-

mala is the Deputy Managing Director. 

Personnel  
At the end of the year, the Group employed a total of 286 

persons (239). Of personnel, 182 persons (158) work for 

S-Bank and 104 (81) for S-Asiakaspalvelu Oy. The salaries 

and fees paid to personnel amounted to EUR 11.6 million 

(9.8), of which the salaries and fees paid by S-Bank Ltd 

were EUR 8.6 million (7.3) and those paid by S-Asi-

akaspalvelu Oy were EUR 3.0 million (2.5).

S Group’s 21 cooperative enterprises operate as S-Bank’s 

agents. In 2012, training of S-Bank’s agents was arranged 

in accordance with a training programme approved by the 

Management Team. Training focused on ensuring the com-

petence and quality of service required in the banking 

business, developing sales competence and improving com-

prehensive customer service. Customer satisfaction surveys 

show that the competence and service quality of the agent 

network was excellent.

The competence of S-Asiakaspalvelu Oy’s personnel is 

ensured through continuous training at work. The survey 

carried out at the end of 2012 indicated that the compe-

tence and service levels shown by S-Asiakaspalvelu Oy’s 

personnel were good.  

Wages, salaries and remuneration  
S-Bank’s Compensation and Nomination Committee annu-

ally prepares performance-based compensation principles 

for the bank’s personnel in accordance with its rules of 

procedure, and submits them to the bank’s Executive Board 

for confirmation. The Compensation and Nomination Com-

mittee consists of the Chairman (who acts as Chairman of 

the Committee) and Vice-Chairman of the bank’s Executive 

Board, and at least one member nominated by the Execu-

tive Board from among its members.

S-Bank has only a short-term compensation system in use. 

It specifies that the performance-based compensation sys-

tem is valid for one year at a time. The performance-based 

compensation target depends on the whole bank’s shared 

targets, unit-level targets and personal targets. The perfor-

mance-based compensations are paid in cash.

In 2012, S-Bank paid EUR 8.0 million (6.7) in salaries and 

EUR 0.6 million (0.5) in fees. In 2012, S-Asiakaspalvelu 

Oy paid EUR 2.9 million (2.4) in salaries and EUR 0.1 

million (0.1) in fees. 

No meeting fees were paid to S-Bank’s Executive Board 

members. The personnel members whose operation essen-

tially affects the credit institution’s risk profile were paid 

EUR 1.6 million (1.4) in salaries and EUR 156,000 

(164,000) in fees in 2012. A total of 25 persons (22) were 

entitled to these salaries and fees. During the one-year 

earnings period, no changeable fee paid to individuals 

entitled to this fee was higher than EUR 50,000.

Those who left the company during the financial year were 

paid normal pay for the period of notice. No special sever-

ance pay was paid.

Significant events after the end of the 
financial period

There were no significant events after the end of the finan-

cial period. 

Outlook for 2013  
Short-term market interest rates will remain low. However, 

there is a turn for the better visible in economic growth 

forecasts. This is indicated by a gradual increase in the 

purchase manager index of the euro area and the actions 

taken by the European Central Bank to increase the amount 

of money and revive the economy. However, uncertainty 

concerning political decision-making will pose a challenge 

to the improvement of the economy.

The low interest rates will affect S-Bank’s outlook for oper-

ating profit most significantly. In 2013, the consolidated 

result is expected to remain at the same level as in 2012.

Executive Board’s proposal for  
the disposal of distributable funds

The Executive Board proposes that the parent company 

S-Bank’s profit for the financial year, EUR 4,476,594.43, 

be entered in the retained earnings account and that no 

dividend be distributed.
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Calculation of key indicators
Net interest income:

Interest income–Interest expenses

Net fee and commission income:

Fee and commission income - Fee and commission expenses

Other income:

Net income from securities trading and currency operations + Net income from available-for-sale financial assets +  
Net result from hedge accounting + Net income from investment property + Other operating income

Cost/income ratio:

Administrative expenses + Depreciation and impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets + Other operating 
expenses (excl. impairment losses)

Net interest income + Income from equity investments + Net fee and commission income + Net income from  
securities trading and currency operations + Net income from available-for-sale financial assets + Net result from 
hedge accounting + Net income from investment properties + Other operating income + Share of equity earnings  
in associated companies (net)

Return on equity (ROE), %

Operating profit/loss - Income taxes
x 100

Equity and minority interest + Accumulated appropriations less deferred tax liability (the average for the 
beginning and end of year)

Return on assets (ROA), %

Operating profit/loss - Income taxes
x 100

Balance sheet sum total on average (the average for the beginning and end of year)

Equity ratio, %

Equity and minority interest + Accumulated appropriations less deferred tax liability
x 100

Balance sheet sum total

Capital adequacy ratio, %

Own funds total
x 8%

Minimum requirement for own funds, total

Capital adequacy ratio for Tier I own funds, %

Tier I own funds total
x 8%

Minimum requirement for own funds, total
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Consolidated balance sheet

ASSETS, EUR THOUSAND Note 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Cash 17, 18, 23 164 232 6 785

Debt securities eligible for refinancing with central banks    

Other 3, 17, 18, 23 1 943 855 1 840 269

Receivables from credit institutions 1, 17 46 214 203 018

Repayable on demand  576 512

Other  45 638 202 506

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 2, 17, 18, 23 360 035 300 823

Repayable on demand  10 592 9 716

Other  349 444 291 106

Debt securities 3, 17, 18, 23   

Other  438 283 429 435

Shares and participations 5, 18, 23 83 588 74 031

Shares and participations in associated companies 5, 23 0 1

Derivative contracts 6, 18, 23 179 511

Intangible assets 7, 9, 18 12 573 12 780

Tangible assets 8, 9, 18 13 665 14 346

Other assets 10 2 218 3 963

Accrued income and prepayments 11 33 152 26 377

Deferred tax assets 12 0 5 304

ASSETS, TOTAL  3 097 995 2 917 641
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LIABILITIES, EUR THOUSAND Note 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

LIABILITIES    

Liabilities to credit institutions  300 000 200 000

To central banks 17, 18, 23 300 000 200 000

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 17, 18, 23 2 500 022 2 508 123

Deposits  2 471 917 2 472 610

Repayable on demand  1 962 838 1 803 635

Other  509 079 668 975

Other liabilities  28 105 35 513

Repayable on demand  27 219 31 628

Other  886 3 885

Derivatives and other liabilities held for trading 6, 18, 23 17 610 7 811

Other liabilities 14, 18   

Other liabilities  20 072 13 328

Accruals, deferred income and advances received 15 19 000 15 381

Subordinated liabilities    

Other 16, 17, 23 20 000 20 000

Deferred tax liabilities 12 13 473 1 840

LIABILITIES TOTAL  2 890 177 2 766 485

EQUITY    

Share capital 24 33 540 33 540

Share premium reserve 24 21 180 21 180

Other restricted reserves    

Fair value reserve 24   

On measurement at fair value  35 477 -16 346

Non-restricted reserves    

Invested non-restricted equity reserve 24 104 448 104 448

Profit (loss) from previous financial periods 24 8 334 1 381

Profit (loss) for the financial period 24 4 838 6 953

EQUITY, TOTAL 24 207 818 151 157

LIABILITIES, TOTAL  3 097 995 2 917 641

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS    

Commitments given on behalf of a customer 43   

Irrevocable  65 655 36 259

Other  593 381 546 982
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
EUR thousand Note 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Interest income 25 78 786 76 123

Interest expenses 25 -29 770 -24 581

NET INTEREST INCOME  49 016 51 541

Fee and commission income 28 13 531 10 981

Fee and commission expenses 28 -3 075 -2 047

Net income from securities trading and currency 
operations    

Net income from securities trading 29 -13 371 -7 347

Net income from currency operations 29 16 0

Net income from available-for-sale financial assets 30 16 684 1 665

Net income from hedge accounting 31 -6 0

Net income from investment property 32 513 354

Other operating income 33 5 092 3 557

Administrative expenses  -52 962 -42 671

Personnel expenses    

Salaries, wages and remuneration  -11 597 -9 834

Indirect personnel expenses    

Pension expenses  -2 066 -1 696

Other indirect personnel expenses  -522 -528

Other administrative expenses  -38 777 -30 612

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of tangible 
and intangible assets 35 -4 269 -4 148

Other operating expenses 34 -3 781 -3 280

Impairment losses on loans and other receivables 36 -968 -713

Share of equity earnings in associated companies  -1 -3

OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS)  6 421 7 891

Income taxes  -1 582 -938

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD  4 838 6 953
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
EUR THOUSAND 1.1.-31.12.2012 1.1.-31.12.2011

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS   

Interest, fee and commission income 88 185 86 248

Interest, fee and commission expenses -30 162 -20 462

Payments received on loans recorded as credit losses 456 305

Other income 17 451 -613

Payments to suppliers of goods and services, and personnel -54 023 -46 166

 21 908 19 312

Increase (-) or decrease (+) in operating assets:   

Current assets 5 646 -4 778

Net increase in credit card and overdraft receivables -60 508 -2 527

Increase (+) or decrease (-) in operating liabilities:   

Deposits from customers -693 20 958

Current liabilities 98 501 207 059

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities before income taxes 64 853 240 025

Income taxes -2 597 0

Net cash from operations 62 256 240 024

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES   

Acquisition of subsidiaries 0 -3 229

Other shares and participations -23 0

Purchase of intangible assets -4 063 -4 235

Net cash provided by (used in) investment activities -4 086 -7 464

Net cash provided by (used in) investment activities

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   

Repayment of loan receivables 0 -10 111

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 0 -10 111

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 58 170 222 449

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial period 2 575 871 2 353 422

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial period 2 634 042 2 575 871
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The company
S-Bank Group consists of S-Bank Ltd (S-Bank) and its 

subsidiaries. S-Bank is a deposit bank that engages in 

credit institution operations pursuant to the Credit Institu-

tions Act (9.2.2007/121), providing its customers with 

services related to saving, payment transactions and the 

financing of purchases.

S-Bank’s headquarters and office are located at Fleming-

inkatu 34, FI-00510 Helsinki, Finland. The bank does not 

have any other branch offices. Under agency agreements, 

customer service is also provided by the S Group coopera-

tive enterprises at their outlets.

On 11 February 2013, the Executive Board approved the 

financial statements for the period 1 January – 31 Decem-

ber 2012.

Accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with the Accounting Act and, as applicable, with the pro-

visions of the Credit Institutions Act, the Decree on Finan-

cial Statements and Consolidated Financial Statements of 

Credit Institutions and Investment Firms (MFD) given by 

the Ministry of Finance, as well as the Finnish Financial 

Supervisory Authority’s regulations concerning the income 

statement, balance sheet and notes to the financial state-

ments, effective as of 1 December 2005 and updated on 

18 November 2008. In preparing the financial statements, 

the general instructions issued by the Finnish Accounting 

Standards Board (KILA) have also been considered, as 

applicable.

The financial statements have been prepared pursuant to 

the Financial Supervisory Authority’s regulations concerning 

the market disclosure of capital adequacy information.

Principles of consolidation
In addition to S-Bank Ltd, the consolidated financial state-

ments include S-Asiakaspalvelu Oy, Kiinteistö Oy Limingan 

Terminaali and Kiinteistö Oy Lempäälän Terminaali. These 

companies are wholly owned by S-Bank. S-Bank has no 

ownership over 50 per cent in other companies. The sub-

sidiaries acquired are included in the financial statements 

using the acquisition cost method. The companies possibly 

acquired during the financial year have been consolidated 

from the date of acquisition. The associated company 

Notes to the financial statements

S-Crosskey Ab has been consolidated using the equity 

method.

Intra-Group transactions, receivables and liabilities have 

been eliminated from the consolidated financial statements. 

Items denominated in foreign currency
The financial statements are presented in euros. The items 

denominated in foreign currency were recognised at the rate 

on the date of the transaction. On the balance sheet date, 

the items denominated in foreign currency are converted 

into euros at the exchange rate of the balance sheet date.

Exchange rate differences are recognised as exchange rate 

profit/loss in the income statement, as regards financial 

items, they are recognised in net income from securities 

trading and currency operations, and as regards trade pay-

ables, in other administration costs.

Financial assets and liabilities
S-Bank Group applies a settlement-date practice when 

recognising financial assets and liabilities in the balance 

sheet. An item belonging to financial assets or liabilities is 

initially recognised in the accounts at fair value, including 

transaction costs.

On initial recognition, financial assets and liabilities are 

classified as financial assets or liabilities at fair value 

through profit and loss, financial assets held to maturity, 

available-for-sale financial assets, loans and other receiva-

bles, and other financial liabilities. Financial assets and 

liabilities are measured at fair value or amortised cost using 

the effective interest method in accordance with their clas-

sification.

The fair value of a financial instrument is determined on 

the basis of prices quoted in active markets or by using 

measurement methods that are generally applied in the 

markets. The fair values of certificates of deposit, commer-

cial papers or derivative contracts (excluding futures con-

tracts) are determined by discounting future cash flows to 

the present value, applying market interest rates on the 

balance sheet date. Bonds, notes and futures contracts are 

measured at market prices. Financial assets at fair value 

are measured using the bid price, while financial liabilities 

at fair value are measured using the asked rate.
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Financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit and 

loss include bonds and notes and other domestic and for-

eign securities and participations that are actively traded 

and have been acquired for short-term gain. Derivative 

contracts to which hedge accounting has not been applied 

are also included. On the balance sheet date, S-Bank 

entered only derivative contracts in this item. 

Financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit and 

loss are measured at fair value. The change in fair value is 

entered in the income statement. The difference between 

the balance sheet date value of the financial instruments 

recognised at fair value and the carrying value from the 

previous financial statements is recognised as the income 

or expense for the period in the income statement. If the 

financial instrument recognised at fair value was acquired 

during the financial period, the difference between the 

value of the financial instrument on the balance sheet date 

and its acquisition cost is entered as the income or expense 

for the period. 

Held-to-maturity investments include bonds and notes and 

other non-derivative investments that are connected to fixed 

or determinable payments, mature on a certain date or are 

held to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are meas-

ured at amortised acquisition cost using the effective inter-

est method. On the balance sheet date, S-Bank had no 

financial assets that would have been recognised as finan-

cial assets held to maturity.

Financial assets which are not quoted on the secondary 

market, for which the payments are fixed or floating and 

which do not fall under financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss, financial assets held to maturity or availa-

ble-for-sale financial assets are recognised as loans and 

other receivables. The transaction costs related to loans and 

other receivables are included in the amortised acquisition 

cost measured using the effective interest method and 

amortised through profit and loss over the term-to-maturity 

of the receivable. After the initial recognition, loans and 

other receivables are measured at amortised acquisition 

cost using the effective interest method.

Debt securities and other domestic and foreign securities, 

not recorded in financial assets at fair value through profit 

and loss, investments held to maturity, or loans and other 

receivables, are recorded in available-for-sale financial 

assets. Financial assets available for sale are measured at 

fair value. The fair value of publicly traded investments is 

defined on the basis of their market value. Investments that 

are not publicly quoted are measured by means of generally 

approved valuation methods in the market. Should this not 

yield a reliably definable fair value, the acquisition cost is 

used. The change in fair value is recorded directly in equity 

in the fair value reserve. When the financial instrument is 

sold, the cumulative change in fair value recorded in equity, 

together with accrued interest and capital gains or losses, 

is recognised in the income statement.

An item belonging to other financial liabilities is recognised 

in the financial statements at its nominal value when its 

fair value is the nominal value. If the debt capital received 

differs from the nominal value of the liability, the liability 

is entered in the amount received. The amount of the dif-

ference between the debt’s nominal value and the cost, 

which is recognised as expense or income for the period, is 

amortised and recognised as an increase or decrease in the 

cost of debt. The difference between the nominal value and 

cost, or a debt-related fee, or an expense that is part of a 

debt-related interest expense, is amortised using the effec-

tive interest method as an expense for the term-to-maturity 

of the debt. Other financial liabilities are measured at the 

amortised cost on the balance sheet date using the effective 

interest method.  

Impairment of financial assets
On each balance sheet date, the Corporation assesses 

whether there is any objective evidence that the value of an 

item other than those classified as financial assets at fair 

value through profit and loss is impaired. Objective evi-

dence is, for example, a customer’s delay in payment, 

insolvency or bankruptcy, reorganisation or rearrangement 

of debts, or a major change in the credit rating. Should 

there be objective evidence of impairment, an impairment 

loss is recorded.

The amount of an impairment loss on financial assets 

recorded at amortised cost is determined as the difference 

between the carrying amount of an asset and the present 

value of estimated future cash flows from the asset, includ-

ing the fair value of any collateral. The discount rate applied 

is the original effective interest rate of the receivable. The 

difference is recognised as an impairment loss in the 

income statement, and the accrual of interest is continued 

on the lowered balance at the original effective interest rate 

of the contract. If the amount of an impairment loss sub-

sequently decreases and the change is attributable to an 

event that has taken place after the recognition of the 

impairment loss, the impairment loss is reversed. Notwith-

standing what is mentioned above, S-Bank estimates credit 
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card and consumer credit receivables on a group-specific 

basis, but on the basis of the above-mentioned criteria for 

evaluation of impairment.

When there is objective evidence of the impairment of 

bonds, notes, or shares included in available-for-sale finan-

cial assets, the cumulative loss that had been directly 

recognised in equity is removed from equity and recognised 

in the income statement as an impairment loss. The impair-

ment loss of a share that is not publicly quoted is deter-

mined as being the difference between the carrying amount 

and the present value of estimated future cash flows dis-

counted at the market yield of a similar item on the report-

ing date. Should the fair value of notes or bonds classified 

as available-for-sale subsequently increase and should the 

increase objectively relate to an event occurring after the 

impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 

impairment loss is reversed and recognised through profit 

and loss. If the fair value of a share later increases, the 

increase in value is recognised in equity.

Hedge accounting
Derivative contracts are primarily used for hedging pur-

poses, but S-Bank has not previously applied hedge 

accounting. At the end of the period under review, S-Bank 

started to apply small-scale hedge accounting of fair value 

to agreements that meet documented efficiency and other 

prerequisites that relate to hedge accounting. In these 

cases, the open interest rate risk is protected with interest 

rate swaps that have further been determined to be protec-

tive items in hedge accounting.

The changes in fair value resulting from hedged risk of 

protected items are recognised under item “Net result from 

hedge accounting” in the income statement. The changes 

in fair value other than those resulting from hedged risk are 

recognised in the fair value reserve. 

The changes in fair value of the protected items included 

in hedge accounting are recognised under item “Net result 

from hedge accounting” in the income statement.

Linked derivative
A linked derivative is part of a hybrid instrument that also 

contains a non-derivative main contract. Because of this, 

part of the cash flow of the hybrid instrument fluctuates in 

a manner similar to the cash flow of a standalone derivative. 

A linked derivative must be separated from the main con-

tract and considered to be a derivative in accounting, pro-

vided that the requirements for separation stated in the 

standards issued by the Financial Supervisory Authority are 

met. One such requirement is, for example, that the finan-

cial characteristics and risks of the linked derivative and 

the main contract are not closely linked.

During previous financial periods, S-Bank issued two sub-

ordinated debenture loans that can be categorised as the 

above-mentioned hybrid instruments due to options 

included in the contracts and because these options entitle 

the bank to repayment of debt before the maturity date. 

During previous financial periods, S-Bank also acquired a 

digital option linked to a bond as part of the hedging trans-

action relating to the investment deposit.

S-Bank does not separate linked derivatives from the main 

contracts in the case of the above-mentioned debenture 

loans. The financial characteristics and risks are considered 

to be closely linked to the main contracts as the option 

exercise prices correspond to the amortised cost of the debt 

contracts at all exercise periods. However, S-Bank separates 

the digital option from the main contract and handles it as 

a derivative in accounting.

Principles of income recognition
Interest income and expenses
Interest on financial assets and liabilities is periodised as 

interest income and expenses for the financial periods to 

which they are to be allocated over time.

Fee and commission income and expenses  
Fee and commission income and expenses arise from ser-

vices offered to customers and from the resources needed 

to provide these services. Fee and commission income and 

expenses are recognised when the services have been ren-

dered or received. Income and expenses for services that 

are provided over several years are allocated to the appro-

priate years.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets consist of licence fees for software and 

connection charges. The capitalised expenses of software 

also include the costs arising from a modification of the 

software licensed to S-Bank. Intangible assets are meas-

ured at cost and amortised over their estimated economic 

lives using the straight line method.

Amortisation periods for intangible assets
Software licence fees: 5 years

Connection charges: 5 years
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Tangible assets
Tangible assets are measured at original acquisition cost 

less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if 

any. Straight-line depreciation is recorded on tangible 

assets in accordance with each item’s economic life. Land 

areas are not depreciated.

The depreciation periods for tangible assets / 
investment properties

Buildings: 25 years

Equipment in buildings: 10 years

Investment property
Investment properties are properties used by operations 

outside the Group and held by the Group for the primary 

reason of obtaining rental income and possibly an appreci-

ation in the asset value. Investment properties are meas-

ured at original acquisition cost, less accumulated depre-

ciation and any impairment losses, in accordance with the 

same principles that are applied to real estate belonging to 

tangible assets. Leases are recognised as income in the net 

income from investment property over the lease period.

Income taxes
Income taxes include the current taxes based on taxable 

income for the financial period and corrections to taxes for 

previous periods. The tax effect of items directly recognised 

in equity is correspondingly directly recognised in equity. 

Taxes are calculated using the tax rates valid on the balance 

sheet date and, if there is a change in tax rates, at the 

enacted tax rate.

Risk management
Risk is an integral part of a banking business endeavour. 

Good risk management supports the achievement of busi-

ness objectives by ensuring that risks are identified and 

managed and their impacts analysed, and by supervising 

that the risks assumed are in correct proportion to the 

bank’s risk-bearing capability.

S-Bank has a risk management policy confirmed by the 

bank’s Executive Board. It defines risk management pur-

poses, principles, roles, responsibilities and the composi-

tion of the risk management organisation. In addition, the 

policy defines S-Bank’s main types of risks and how to 

identify, estimate, measure, manage and monitor them, as 

well as how to report on them. In accordance with the 

policy, risks are measured and reported in a manner that 

gives decision-makers sufficient and relevant information 

on operational risks and their management.

Organisation of risk management
The highest decision-making power is exercised by S-Bank’s 

Executive Board. In accordance with the risk management 

policy, the Executive Board confirms the risk management 

principles and guidelines. The Executive Board also decides 

on risk strategies and the way in which risk management 

and internal audit are organised within S-Bank. In addition, 

the Executive Board confirms the risk limits and decides 

on the level of the bank’s risk-taking willingness and 

risk-bearing capability, along with the necessary amount of 

risk capital.

The Executive Board has set up a Credit and Risk Manage-

ment Committee to monitor risks. The main responsibility 

of the Credit and Risk Management Committee is to main-

tain and develop risk management at S-Bank. Moreover, its 

duty is to provide the Executive Board with a proposal for 

the allocation of risk capital and limits on different types 

of risks to the Executive Board.

The adopted risk management policy specifies that line 

managers are responsible for attending to S-Bank’s on-go-

ing operations in accordance with the risk management 

principles and methods set out in the policy. The Managing 

Director is responsible for ensuring that the responsibilities 

and authorisations are clearly and appropriately defined. 

The head of each business unit is responsible for ensuring 

that the business is carried on in accordance with S-Bank’s 

guidelines and principles. In addition, they are responsible 

for risks in their respective business areas within the pro-

vided limits.

S-Bank’s risk monitoring function is a unit that is independ-

ent of business operations. Its task is to monitor and esti-

mate the bank’s risk taking level. The risk monitoring func-

tion maintains and develops risk measurement, assessment 

and reporting methods, as well as supports the business 

areas in the identification of new risks. 

The internal audit assists the Executive Board and the 

Managing Director in supervising and ensuring the bank’s 

operations by auditing the bank’s functions.

Risk concepts
S-Bank’s risks can be divided into strategic risks, market 

and credit risks, and operational risks. 

“Strategic risk” can be divided into two categories: the 

company selects the wrong strategy for profitable opera-

tions, or the risk can materialise if the selected strategy 
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cannot be adapted to changes in the operating environment 

due to the company’s inflexibility. These may relate to 

market and competitive conditions, economic fluctuations, 

changes in customer behaviour and the development of 

technology, for example.

“Credit risk” is the risk that a counterparty fails to meet its 

liability to pay to S-Bank, or a change in the creditworthi-

ness of a counterparty affects the market value of the finan-

cial instruments issued by the bank. At S-Bank, credit risks 

result from investment activities and lending to the public.

“Market risk” is caused by the exposure of the balance 

sheet structure and operating result to changes in the 

investment market. Market risks are reviewed from the 

viewpoint of income risk, price risk and liquidity risk.

“Price risk” refers to the sensitivity to market price in bal-

ance sheet items and the impact of fair value on operating 

result due to fluctuating market prices. The viewpoint in 

“income risk” depends more on accounting. Income risk 

simulates the impact of risk realisation on the bank’s result 

when the instrument is held until the end and the result is 

recorded at amortised cost. “Liquidity risk” is the risk of 

S-Bank not being able to fulfil its payment obligations. 

Liquidity risk is divided into short-term liquidity risk and 

longer-term refinancing risk.

“Operational risk” refers to the risk of the materialisation 

of a loss due to insufficient or defective internal processes, 

personnel, systems, external factors, or legal risks.

Strategic risks
“Strategic risks” and the associated risks related to busi-

ness, reputation and external operating environment are 

managed through risk assessments carried out in connection 

with annual action plans. Degrees of significance are defined 

for the risks in relation to strategic objectives. The financial 

impact of risks thus identified is assessed, and measures 

for managing risks are defined. In addition, strategic risks 

are managedby making annual scenario analyses based on 

business plans and profit and loss statements to assess the 

impact of changes in the business environment on the 

bank’s balance sheet, profitability and capital adequacy.

The risk control function reports to the bank’s Executive 

Board and the Credit and Risk Management Committee on 

identified business risks, their management measures and 

the results of scenario analyses. The Executive Board 

approves the measures for managing the risks. 

Credit risks
At S-Bank, credit risks primarily arise from the credit card 

and consumer credit business, lending to S Group compa-

nies and investment activities.

Credit risk is managed within the framework of credit grant-

ing principles and limits defined in the credit policy and 

risk management policy. The Executive Board is responsible 

for monitoring S-Bank’s lending. The risk monitoring func-

tion oversees the implementation of credit policy and risk 

management policy, as well as credit risk exposures. The 

risk monitoring function reports on the credit risks to the 

Executive Board, the Credit and Risk Management Com-

mittee, as well as the management and authorities.

The customer-owners of S Group’s cooperative enterprises 

are regarded as the chief target group for S-Bank’s deposit 

banking operations. In the granting of credit for lending 

purposes, particular attention is paid to the prospective 

borrowers’ repayment ability. Private customers’ creditwor-

thiness is assessed by dividing them into risk categories on 

the basis of different characteristics, using a scoring system. 

The assessment of corporate customers’ creditworthiness is 

based, among other things, on financial statements and their 

Trade Register and Credit Register information. If necessary, 

a credit rating given by a credit rating company is used.

In investment business, counterparty risks are restricted 

with limits. Counterparty limits are defined by assessing the 

credit risk of possible counterparties, mainly on the basis 

of credit ratings given by credit rating companies. Invest-

ment activities have been cautious, and assets have been 

invested in liquid objects which are as safe as possible and 

have a good credit rating.

The bank’s credit control function is responsible for daily 

credit monitoring as regards card and consumer credits. If 

customers fail to meet their obligations according to the 

agreed schedule, the credit control will initiate payment 

reminder and collection measures.

Receivables matured at the balance sheet date provide the 

most significant evidence when assessing impairments at 

S Bank. The amount recognised as impairment loss is the 

amount corresponding to the best estimate after all relevant 

information on the situation on the balance sheet date has 

been considered. Should the amount of the impairment 

loss, according to objective estimates, decrease during a 

subsequent financial period, the impairment loss is reduced 

by a corresponding sum.
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In the financial statements, S-Bank evaluates its impair-

ments only by product, since a single liability is not signif-

icant by itself in the bank’s current product range. The 

impaired receivables in the financial statements totalled 

EUR 8.7 million (7.9). All the impairment losses were 

group-specific. For the investment business, S-Bank can-

celled a total of EUR 0.3 million in impairment losses 

recorded in the previous period from the receivables of 

Italian and Spanish counterparties. Impairment losses are 

presented under “Impairment losses from credit and other 

receivables” in the financial statements. For the investment 

business, they are presented under “Net income from finan-

cial assets available for sale”.

Capital adequacy assessment
S-Bank uses a standard method in the capital adequacy 

requirement assessment. In the standard method, first the 

exposure value is defined for the asset items, subject to the 

capital adequacy requirement, after which the exposure val-

ues are multiplied by risk weighting factors and then by the 

capital adequacy requirement, which yields the total amount 

of the bank’s own funds required to cover the credit risk.

When determining the risk weightings used in assessing 

capital adequacy, S-Bank uses credit rating institutions 

approved by the Financial Supervisory Authority. The coun-

terparty’s Standard & Poor’s credit rating is primarily 

reported. If it is not available, the credit rating of Moody’s 

Investors Service or, if there is not one, the Fitch Ratings 

credit rating will be used.

The ratings of the above-mentioned credit rating institu-

tions are used to determine the risk weightings for govern-

ments and central banks, international development banks, 

credit institutions, investment firms and other companies. 

If, however, the asset item in question belongs to a special 

issuance programme or arrangement for which a specific 

credit rating is available, this credit rating is used to deter-

mine the risk weighting. 

Calculating capital adequacy for counterparty risk is part of 

the standard method in credit risk assessment. The capital 

adequacy requirement due to counterparty risk is calculated 

for derivative instruments, transactions with a long settle-

ment time and transactions connected with the asset-

backed trading book.

The positive fair value of derivatives held by S-Bank on the 

balance sheet date was EUR 0.2 million (0.4). Credit risk 

mitigation techniques, such as guarantees and financing 

securities, can be used when the capital adequacy require-

ment is calculated for the credit risk with the standard 

method. During the financial year now ended, the bank’s 

capital adequacy requirement for credit risk was decreased 

by the use of guarantees given by states to banks’ funding 

and covered bonds included in receivables. In addition, 

financing securities have been utilised in the calculation of 

the capital adequacy requirement for credit risk.

S-Bank’s risk exposure in 2012
At the end of the financial period, the maximum amount of 

S-Bank’s exposure was EUR 3,637.5 million (3,375.1), 

including off-balance sheet commitments. The most signif-

icant item was claims or contingent claims on institutions, 

totalling EUR 1,851.5 million (1,754.7). Claims in the form 

of covered bonds totalled EUR 303.7 million (259.0), and 

claims or contingent claims on central governments or cen-

tral banks totalled EUR 196.1 million (252.0). Retail claims 

or contingent retail claims increased from the previous year 

due to an increase in lending, and totalled EUR 237.3 

million (198.1). In addition, claims or contingent claims on 

corporates increased, standing at EUR 228.7 million 

(188.8). Claims in the form of collective investment under-

takings totalled EUR 83.6 million (74.0). Furthermore, 

S-Bank had claims or contingent claims on regional govern-

ments, amounting to EUR 19.4 million (9.7), and on mul-

tilateral development banks, totalling EUR 5.4 million (5.2). 

Past due items constituted an item of EUR 10.3 million 

(9.7), while claims or contingent claims secured on real 

estate property constituted an item of EUR 2.6 million (3.1). 

Other items totalled EUR 40.0 million (36.5). Off-balance 

sheet items amounted to EUR 659.0 million (584.2).

When analysed by risk weighting, S-Bank’s exposure fell 

predominantly into the 20 per cent risk weight category, where 

S-Bank mainly recorded claims or contingent claims on other 

credit institutions. In the category with a 100 per cent risk 

weighting, the bank primarily recorded claims or contingent 

claims on corporates and claims in the form of collective 

investment undertakings, whereas the zero per cent category 

consisted of claims or contingent claims on central banks, 

credit institutions’ bonds guaranteed by governments, claims 

or contingent claims on multilateral development banks, and 

off-balance sheet items. Claims in the form of covered bonds 

constituted an item of 10 per cent and retail claims or con-

tingent retail claims an item of 75 per cent. Claims or con-

tingent claims secured on real estate property were mainly 

recorded in the 35 per cent item. Claims or contingent claims 

on credit institutions in the countries included in category 2 

or claims or contingent claims on corporates with a rating of 

at least A were recorded in the 50 per cent item. Past due 

items were recorded in the 150 per cent item.
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EXPOSURES (EUR MILLION)
	 TOTAL AMOUNT
	 OF EXPOSURES

	 Average value 
	of  exposures in 
	the  financial period

2012 2011 2012 2011

Claims or contingent claims on central governments or 
central banks 196.1 252.0 224.1 289.7

Claims or contingent claims on regional governments 19.4 9.7 14.5 12.9

Claims or contingent claims on multilateral development 
banks 5.4 5.2 5.3 5.2

Claims or contingent claims on institutions 1 851.5 1 754.7 1 803.1 1 690.7

Claims or contingent claims on corporates 228.7 188.8 208.8 167.4

Retail claims or contingent retail claims 237.3 198.1 217.7 202.0

Claims or contingent claims secured on real estate 
property 2.6 3.1 2.9 3.5

Past due items 10.3 9.7 10.0 9.0

Claims in the form of covered bonds 303.7 259.0 281.4 260.9

Claims in the form of collective investment undertakings 83.6 74.0 78.8 65.1

Other items 40.0 36.5 38.2 26.4

Off-balance sheet items 659.0 584.2 621.6 572.4

Total 3 637.5 3 375.1 3 506.3 3 305.4
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MATURITY DISTRIBUTION OF RECEIVABLES  
(EUR MILLION) FOR 2012

Less  
than  

3 mos.

  
3–12  
mos.

 
1–5  
yrs

 
5–10  

yrs

More  
than  

10 yrs

 
 

Total

Claims or contingent claims on central governments or 
central banks 164.2 6.1 25.8 0.0 0.0 196.1

Claims or contingent claims on regional governments 0.0 4.5 14.9 0.0 0.0 19.4

Claims or contingent claims on multilateral development 
banks 0.0 0.0 5.4 0.0 0.0 5.4

Claims or contingent claims on institutions 122.8 337.3 1 391.3 0.1 0.0 1 851.5

Claims or contingent claims on corporates 67.7 19.3 122.3 19.4 0.0 228.7

Retail claims or contingent retail claims 14.4 31.4 122.8 57.6 11.1 237.3

Claims or contingent claims secured on real estate 
property 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.8 0.8 2.6

Past due items 10.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 10.3

Claims in the form of covered bonds 0.0 26.3 277.4 0.0 0.0 303.7

Claims in the form of collective investment undertakings 0.0 0.0 83.6 0.0 0.0 83.6

Other items 12.3 13.9 0.0 0.0 13.7 40.0

Off-balance sheet items 602.6 20.1 36.4 0.0 0.0 659.0

TOTAL 994.3 458.9 2 080.8 77.9 25.6 3 637.5

RECEIVABLES BY RISK WEIGHTING (EUR MILLION)                                                Exposure value

Risk weight 2012 2011

0% 782.7 810.7

10% 295.6 240.6

20% 1 842.1 1 725.3

35% 2.6 3.0

50% 22.8 80.9

75% 238.8 199.9

100% 442.5 305.1

150% 10.3 9.7

3 637.5 3 375.1
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PAST DUE ITEMS (EUR MILLION) FOR 2012
less than 
30 days

30–90  
days

more than 
90 days

Of which 
impaired Total

Balance sheet item

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 2.4 0.8 9.8 -8.7 4.2

PAST DUE ITEMS (EUR MILLION) FOR 2011
less than 
30 days

30–90  
days

more than 
90 days

Of which 
impaired Total

Balance sheet item

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 1.8 0.7 8.9 -7.9 3.5

 
MATURITY DISTRIBUTION OF RECEIVABLES  
(EUR MILLION) FOR 2011

Less  
than  

3 mos.

  
3–12 
mos.

 
1–5  
yrs

 
5–10  

yrs

More  
than  

10 yrs
 

Total

Claims or contingent claims on central governments or 
central banks 201.8 2.0 48.2 0.0 0.0 252.0

Claims or contingent claims on regional governments 0.1 0.0 9.6 0.0 0.0 9.7

Claims or contingent claims on multilateral development 
banks 0.0 0.0 5.2 0.0 0.0 5.2

Claims or contingent claims on institutions 87.4 259.4 1 407.9 0.0 0.0 1 754.7

Claims or contingent claims on corporates 58.8 26.7 98.8 4.4 0.0 188.8

Retail claims or contingent retail claims 12.6 26.8 94.1 62.71 1.94 198.1

Claims or contingent claims secured on real estate 
property 0.0 0.0 1.3 1.1 0.7 3.1

Past due items 9.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 9.7

Claims in the form of covered bonds 0.0 9.8 249.2 0.0 0.0 259.0

Claims in the form of collective investment undertakings 0.0 0.0 74.0 0.0 0.0 74.0

Other items 12.1 10.0 0.0 0.0 14.3 36.5

Off-balance sheet items 548.0 0.0 36.3 0.0 0.0 584.2

TOTAL 930.5 334.8 2 024.6 68.3 17.0 3 375.1

Geographically, Finland was still the most significant coun-

try with regard to exposures. In addition to Finland, the 

exposures mainly concerned other Nordic countries and EU 

member states. The exposures have been categorised geo-

graphically according to the issuer’s country of origin. For 

affiliates, the geographical division is based on the parent 

company’s country of origin. With regard to retail banking 

exposures, S-Bank’s customers are geographically scattered 

in Finland, which does prevent the concentration of risk 

exposures.
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GEOGRAPHIC DISTRIBUTION OF EXPOSURES 
(EUR MILLION) FOR 2012 Finland

Nordic 
countries

Other 
EU member 

states
Other 

countries*

Claims or contingent claims on central governments or 
central banks 164.2 0.0 31.9 0.0

Claims or contingent claims on regional governments 0.0 0.0 19.4 0.0

Claims or contingent claims on administrative bodies 
and non-commercial undertakings 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Claims or contingent claims on multilateral development 
banks 0.0 0.0 5.4 0.0

Claims or contingent claims on institutions 234.7 524.5 843.0 249.3

Claims or contingent claims on corporates 222.8 3.7 2.1 0.0

Retail claims or contingent retail claims 237.2 0.0 0.0 0.00

Claims or contingent claims secured on real estate 
property 2.6 0.0 0.0 0.0

Past due items 10.3 0.0 0.0 0.0

Claims in the form of covered bonds 61.0 97.3 142.2 3.2

Claims in the form of collective investment undertakings 72.2 0.0 11.3 0.0

Other items 14.5 8.8 14.2 2.4

Off-balance sheet items 659.0    

Total 1 678.8 634.3 1 069.5 254.9

Other countries include receivables from Switzerland, the United States and Australia.

GEOGRAPHIC DISTRIBUTION OF EXPOSURES 
(EUR MILLION) FOR 2011 Finland

Nordic 
countries

Other 
EU member 

states
Other 

countries*

Claims or contingent claims on central governments or 
central banks 201.8 0.0 50.2 0.0

Claims or contingent claims on regional governments 5.2 0.0 4.5 0.0

Claims or contingent claims on multilateral development 
banks 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.2

Claims or contingent claims on institutions 191.9 431.8 913.1 217.9

Claims or contingent claims on corporates 170.3 10.9 7.7 0.0

Retail claims or contingent retail claims 198.1 0.0 0.0 0.00

Claims or contingent claims secured on real estate 
property 3.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

Past due items 9.7 0.0 0.0 0.0

Claims in the form of covered bonds 46.5 68.1 144.5 0.0

Claims in the form of collective investment undertakings 65.1 0.0 8.9 0.0

Other items 20.7 4.8 8.7 2.3

Off-balance sheet items 584.2    

Total 1 496.5 515.5 1 137.7 225.4

Other countries include receivables from Switzerland, the United States and Australia. 
In addition, other countries include claims or contingent claims on multilateral development banks.

In terms of branch categories, the majority of exposures fell in 

counterparties engaging in financing activities.
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BREAKDOWN OF EXPOSURES BY BRANCH OF 
BUSINESS (EUR MILLION) 2012 2011

Financial and insurance activities 2 484.6 2 354.3

Wholesale and retail trade 77.4 67.1

Real estate activities 53.6 43.6

Electricity, gas and water supply, cooling business 17.1 13.4

Manufacturing 35.8 32.5

Mining and quarrying 4.6 4.5

Construction 0.0 0.1

Information and communication 2.4 12.0

Public administration and defence; compulsory social 
security 36.5 44.4

Other 19.7 5.0

No branch category* 905.9 798.1

Total 3 637.5 3 375.1

* Exposures not falling into branch categories include retail claims or contingent retail claims, past due items, other items and 
off-balance sheet items

Market risks
In market risk management, S-Bank aims to manage unex-

pected changes in the bank’s net interest income and 

capital adequacy, and maximise return on equity within the 

limits of risk-taking willingness. Market risk limits are spec-

ified on the basis of these factors. 

In accordance with the confirmed risk management policy, 

interest rate risk in the banking book is monitored monthly 

by means of the interest rate gap analysis, in which liabil-

ities and receivables are grouped into time periods on the 

basis of their interest rate tying. The effects of changes in 

parallel interest rate curves on the bank’s interest rate risk 

exposure are monitored daily with the net present value 

method and monthly with the income risk method. The 

effect of changes in the interest rate on the market value 

of balance sheet items is also monitored. Internal transfer 

pricing is used to support the management of the interest 

rate risk in the banking book.

Share, property and currency risks materialise directly as a 

result of a change in the market prices of investment instru-

ments. Therefore S-Bank applies only price-risk based risk 

measurement techniques to these instrument categories. 

Limitations are based on simple allocation limits. Share, 

property and currency risks play a role in the spreading of 

market risks, and S-Bank is not strongly disposed towards 

these risk types.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTEREST RATE TYING  
(EUR MILLION) FOR 2012

Balance sheet item / next 
interest rate fixing date

0–1  
mos.

1–3 
mos.

3–6 
mos.

6–9 
mos.

9–12 
mos.

1–2  
yrs.

2–5  
yrs.

More 
than  
5 yrs Total

Cash 164.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 164.2

Receivables from credit 
institutions 46.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 46.2

Receivables from the public and 
public sector entities 243.4 90.3 17.2 4.9 0.0 0.0 4.2 0.0 360.0

Debt securities 353.3 573.6 122.7 39.7 15.5 352.7 905.2 19.4 2 382.1

Receivables total 807.1 663.9 140.0 44.6 15.5 352.7 909.4 19.4 2 952.6

Liabilities to credit institutions -300.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -300.0

Liabilities to the public and 
public sector entities -2 160.9 -143.8 -59.4 -66.9 -59.6 -8.1 -1.2 0.0 -2 500.0

Subordinated -15.0 -5.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -20.0

Liabilities total -2 475.9 -148.8 -59.4 -66.9 -59.6 -8.1 -1.2 0.0 -2 820.0

Receivables and liabilities total -1 668.8 515.1 80.5 -22.3 -44.1 344.5 908.1 19.4 132.6

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTEREST RATE TYING  
(EUR MILLION) FOR 2011

Balance sheet item / next 
interest rate fixing date

0–1  
mos.

1–3 
mos.

3–6 
mos.

6–9 
mos.

9–12 
mos.

1–2  
yrs.

2–5  
yrs.

More 
than  
5 yrs Total

Cash 6.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.8

Receivables from credit 
institutions 203.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 203.0

Receivables from the public and 
public sector entities 189.7 92.4 6.6 6.5 0.0 0.0 5.6 0.0 300.8

Debt securities  522.9 869.5 31.1 9.9 10.3 149.3 672.3 4.4 2 269.7

Receivables total 922.4 961.9 37.7 16.4 10.3 149.3 677.9 4.4 2 780.3

Liabilities to credit institutions -200.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -200.0

Liabilities to the public and 
public sector entities -1 957.4 -125.3 -101.5 -135.6 -129.3 -52.4 -6.7 0.0 -2 508.1

Subordinated -15.0 -5.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -20.0

Liabilities total -2 172.4 -130.3 -101.5 -135.6 -129.3 -52.4 -6.7 0.0 -2 728.1

Receivables and liabilities total -1 250.0 831.6 -63.8 -119.2 -119.1 97.0 671.2 4.4 52.2

S-Bank uses derivative instruments as part of its risk man-

agement. During the financial year 2012, the bank entered 

into interest rate swaps, futures and forwards contracts, and 

options as part of its balance sheet management. The coun-

terparties were specifically selected banks. S-Bank applies 

hedge accounting to a minor extent.



36

NOMINAL VALUES OF DERIVATIVES IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH THE REMAINING MATURITY DISTRIBUTION  
(EUR MILLION) 31 DEC 2012 Less than 1 year 1–5 yrs More than 5 yrs

Interest rate derivatives

Futures and forwards 365.0   

Interest rate swaps 94.0 523.0 5.0

Option agreements, bought 25.0 20.0  

Option agreements, written  95.0  

Equity derivatives

Option agreements, bought 5.4   

Option agreements, written 5.4   

Currency derivatives

Futures and forwards 6.1  

Interest rate and currency swaps  0.8

NOMINAL VALUES OF DERIVATIVES IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH THE REMAINING MATURITY DISTRIBUTION  
(EUR MILLION) 31 DEC 2011 Less than 1 year 1–5 yrs More than 5 yrs

Interest rate derivatives

Futures and forwards 7.5

Interest rate swaps 135.0 396.0

Equity derivatives

Option agreements, bought 3.5 5.4

Option agreements, written 3.5 5.4

DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS 31 DEC 2012 
FOR HEDGING PURPOSES (EUR MILLION) Nominal value

Positive 
fair value

Negative 
fair value

Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 11.0  0.0

DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS 31 DEC 2012 NOT  
FOR HEDGING PURPOSES (EUR MILLION) Nominal value

Positive 
fair value

Negative 
fair value

Interest rate derivatives

Futures and forwards 365  -1.3

Interest rate swaps 611.0  -15.7

Option agreements, bought 45.0 0.0 0.0

Option agreements, written 95.0 0.0 -0.5

Equity derivatives

Option agreements, bought 5.4 0.0  

Option agreements, written 5.4  0.0

Equity derivatives

Currency derivatives

Futures and forwards 6.1 0.1 0.0

Interest rate and currency swaps 0.8 0.1  
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MATURITY DISTRIBUTION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (EUR MILLION) FOR 2012

Balance sheet item
0–1  

mos.
1–3  

mos.
3–6  

mos.
6–9  

mos.
9–12 
mos.

1–2  
yrs.

2–5  
yrs.

More 
than  
5 yrs Total

Cash 164.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 164.2

Receivables from credit 
institutions 46.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 46.2

Receivables from the public 
and public sector entities* 71.5 3.5 16.1 11.8 15.3 46.9 125.1 69.9 360.0

Debt securities 13.0 94.0 192.7 108.2 66.1 678.5 1 210.2 19.4 2 382.1

Receivables total 294.9 97.5 208.8 120.0 81.4 725.4 1 335.3 89.3 2 952.6

Liabilities to credit 
institutions 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -300.0 0.0 -300.0

Liabilities to the public and 
public sector entities** -2 160.9 -143.8 -59.4 -66.9 -59.6 -8.1 -1.2 0.0 -2 500.0

Subordinated liabilities 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -20.0 -20.0

Liabilities total -2 160.9 -143.8 -59.4 -66.9 -59.6 -8.1 -301.2 -20.0 -2 820.0

Receivables and liabilities 
total 164.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 164.2

* Past due items and non-performing assets are reported under the shortest maturity
** Demand deposits are reported under the shortest maturity.

Liquidity risks
The objective of liquidity risk management is to ensure that 

the bank’s net cash flow is positive enough in disturbance 

situations during the following 30 days without any reali-

sation of investment assets.

The adequacy of cash assets is supported by investing a 

sufficient amount of assets in certificates of deposit and 

liquidity accounts immediately realisable for cash assets. 

In addition, the bank can use the Bank of Finland’s limit 

on its ongoing operations to ensure both intraday liquidity 

and overnight liquidity, when necessary.

In the case of liquidity escape and to safeguard liquidity 

for a longer term (over 30 days), liquidity is primarily 

ensured by using liquid instruments eligible for refinancing 

with central banks in the investment business. They must 

be revotable to cash or realisable without substantial cap-

ital losses and transaction costs within three (3) days.

Liquidity and refinancing risks are monitored daily with 

cash flow forecasts and monthly with a gap analysis, in 

which assets and liabilities are grouped into time periods 

according to maturity.

DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS 31 DEC 2011 NOT  
FOR HEDGING PURPOSES (EUR MILLION) Nominal value

Positive 
fair value

Negative 
fair value

Interest rate derivatives

Futures and forwards 7.5  0.0

Interest rate swaps 531.0 0.4 -7.7

Equity derivatives

Option agreements, bought 8.9 0.0

Option agreements, written 8.9 0.0
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MATURITY DISTRIBUTION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (EUR MILLION) FOR 2011

Balance sheet item
0–1  

mos.
1–3  

mos.
3–6  

mos.
6–9  

mos.
9–12 
mos.

1–2  
yrs.

2–5  
yrs.

More 
than  
5 yrs Total

Cash 6.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.8

Receivables from credit 
institutions 203.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 203.0

Receivables from the public 
and public sector entities* 70.2 6.6 7.1 16.5 12.1 37.3 85.1 66.0 300.8

Debt securities 20.0 67.3 54.7 119.3 104.6 949.7 942.7 11.4 2 269.7

Receivables total 299.9 74.0 61.8 135.8 116.7 987.0 1 027.8 77.4 2 780.3

Liabilities to credit 
institutions 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -200.0 0.0 -200.0

Liabilities to the public and 
public sector entities** -1 957.4 -125.3 -101.5 -135.6 -129.3 -52.4 -6.7 0.0 -2 508.1

Subordinated liabilities 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -20.0 -20.0

Liabilities total -1 957.4 -125.3 -101.5 -135.6 -129.3 -52.4 -206.7 -20.0 -2 728.1

Receivables and liabilities 
total -1 657.4 -51.4 -39.6 0.2 -12.6 934.6 821.1 57.4 52.2

* Past due items and non-performing assets are reported under the shortest maturity
** Demand deposits are reported under the shortest maturity.

Operational risks
Operational risk management aims to show clear responsibil-

ities and ownership of operational risk management, ensure 

relevant and cost-efficient controls, keep the loss caused by 

operational losses at an acceptable level and ensure the ade-

quacy of equity to cover the loss caused by operational risks.

S-Bank has specified five key operational risk management 

elements for identifying, estimating, measuring, managing, 

tracking and monitoring operational risks arising from the 

bank’s operations.

•	 toperational planning

•	 acceptance procedure for new products and services

•	 change process for processes and operations

•	 guiding and supporting agent operations

•	 deviation management process

S-Bank’s risk control function co-ordinates the operational 

risk management process and operational risks as a whole 

and reports on risks to S-Bank’s Executive Board and Risk 

Management Committee.

S-Bank calculates the capital adequacy requirement for 

operational risks according to the basic method. In the 

basic method, the capital adequacy requirement is calcu-

lated from the confirmed financial statements for the three 

preceding financial years by means of a yield indicator.

Expenses arising from operational risks were minor during 

the financial year 2012.

Legal risks
In order to manage legal risks, S-Bank’s Legal Affairs–Com-

pliance unit takes part in the preparation of significant agree-

ments and legal acts binding on the bank. Agreements are 

archived in electronic and physical forms. The standard 

terms and conditions of customer agreements have been 

delivered to the Financial Supervisory Authority prior to their 

implementation. The need to revise the valid terms and 

conditions is reviewed and the terms and conditions are 

updated on a regular basis. Before publishing, the bank’s 

legal affairs staff reviews all brochures and advertising mate-

rial issued by the bank. Changes in legislation are monitored 

by means of an electronic basic service purchased from an 

external supplier, while changes related to disbursements 

and payment systems are monitored by participating in the 

relevant joint activities arranged by the Federation of Finnish 

Financial Services. Besides court proceedings related to the 

collection of receivables from customers, the bank was not 

a party in any other court proceedings in 2012.  

Investments in non-listed companies
S-Bank does not hold shares in non-listed companies not 

included in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO BALANCE SHEET ITEMS,  
CONSOLIDATED CORPORATION, EUR THOUSAND

31.12.2012

1. Receivables from credit institutions
Repayable  

on demand

Other than  
repayable  

on demand Total

From Finnish credit institutions 375 34 148 34 523

From foreign credit institutions 201 11 490 11 691

Receivables from credit institutions, total 576 45 638 46 214

2. Receivables from the public and public sector entities  31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Companies and housing associations 103 191 95 802

Financial and insurance institutions 579 2 028

Public sector entities 0 110

Households 241 372 202 765

Non-profit organisations serving households 0 101

Foreign countries 14 893 16

Total 360 035 300 823

The credit loss provisions allocated to the item “Receivables from the 
public and public sector entities” totalled EUR 2,210,000.

Impairment losses at beginning of year 7 912 7 089

Group-specific impairment losses recorded in the period 8 664 7 912

Group-specific impairment losses reversed in the period -7 912 -7 089

Impairment losses at year-end 8 664 7 912

31.12.2011

Repayable  
on demand

Other than  
repayable  

on demand Total

From the central bank 0 195 000 195 000

From Finnish credit institutions 492 1 196 1 688

From foreign credit institutions 20 6 310 6 330

Receivables from credit institutions, total 512 202 506 203 018
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3. Debt securities 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Other than  
publicly quoted

Other than  
publicly quoted

Those issued by public sector entities

Available for sale   

Treasury bonds and notes 25 348 38 814

Other bonds and notes issued by public sector entities 0 5 087

Debt securities not issued by public sector entities   

Available for sale   

Banks' certificates of deposits 36 764 69 627

Commercial papers 8 998 1 980

Bonds and notes issued by banks 2 135 008 2 025 452

Other debt securities 176 020 128 745

Debt securities, total 2 382 138 2 269 704

– eligible for refinancing with central banks 1 943 855 1 840 269

– subordinated 0 6 935

5. Shares and participations                  31.12.2012

Shares and participations Publicly quoted Other Total

Available for sale 83 565 23 83 588

Total 83 565 23 83 588

– of which in credit institutions 11 519   

                31.12.2011

Shares and participations Publicly quoted Other Total

Available for sale 74 031 0 74 031

Shares and participations in associated companies 0 1 1

Total 74 031 1 74 031

– of which in credit institutions 9 465   

4. Assets leased under finance leases

Nothing to report
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             31.12.2012

6. Derivative contracts
Nominal  

value
Positive 

fair value
Negative 
fair value

For hedging purposes

Interest rate derivatives    

Interest rate swaps 11 000 0 -13

Of the nominal value of derivatives in hedge accounting, EUR 11,000 thousand mature in 1–5 years.

             31.12.2012

For non-hedging purposes
Nominal  

value
Positive 

fair value
Negative 
fair value

Interest rate derivatives    

Futures and forwards 365 000 0 -1 307

Option agreements, bought 45 000 49 -12

Option agreements, written 95 000 15 -533

Interest rate swaps 611 026 0 -15 731

Currency derivatives    

Futures and forwards 6 052 51 -9

Interest rate and currency swaps 773 60 0

Equity derivatives    

Option agreements, bought 5 353 5 0

Option agreements, written 5 353 0 -5

Of the nominal value of the derivatives not in hedge accounting, EUR 500,784 thousand mature in less than 
one year, EUR 627,773 thousand in 1–5 years, and EUR 5,000 thousand in more than five years.

             31.12.2011

For non-hedging purposes
Nominal  

value
Positive 

fair value
Negative 
fair value

Interest rate derivatives    

Futures and forwards 7 500 0 -26

Interest rate swaps 531 026 427 -7 701

Equity derivatives    

Option agreements, bought 8 893 7 0

Option agreements, written 8 893 0 -7

Of the nominal value of the derivatives not in hedge accounting, EUR 149,580 thousand mature in less than 
one year and EUR 406,732 thousand in 1–5 years.
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7. Intangible assets 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Capitalised IT expenditure 12 573 12 266

Other intangible assets 0 514

Total 12 573 12 780

8. Tangible assets 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Investment properties, held for investment purposes   

Land and water areas 792 792

Buildings 12 874 13 554

Total 13 665 14 346
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10. Other assets 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Other 2 218 3 963

Total 2 218 3 963

9. Changes in intangible and tangible assets  
during the financial year 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Prepayments for intangible assets   

Acquisition cost; 1 Jan 7 703 3 757

Increase 1 606 4 227

Transfers between items -6 362 -281

Acquisition cost; 31 Dec 2 947 7 703

Carrying amount; 31 Dec 2 947 7 703

Intangible assets   

Acquisition cost; 1 Jan 22 019 21 734

Increase 2 456 4

Transfers between items 6 362 281

Acquisition cost; 31 Dec 30 838 22 019

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and impairment; 1 Jan -16 942 -12 794

Depreciation for the period -4 269 -4 148

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation; 31 Dec -21 211 -16 942

Carrying amount; 31 Dec 9 626 5 077

Intangible assets, total; 31 Dec 12 573 12 780

Other tangible assets   

Acquisition cost; 1 Jan 15 301 11 236

Increase 0 4 065

Acquisition cost; 31 Dec 15 301 15 301

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and impairment; 1 Jan -955 -315

Depreciation for the period -680 -640

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation; 31 Dec -1 635 -955

Carrying amount; 31 Dec 13 665 14 346

Tangible assets, total; 31 Dec 13 665 14 346
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14. Other liabilities 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Payables arising from payment transactions 13 467 9 282

Other 6 605 4 047

Other liabilities, total 20 072 13 328

15. Accruals, deferred income and advances received 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Interest expenses 13 475 10 792

Other accrued expenses 5 525 4 590

Total 19 000 15 381

13. Debt securities issued to the public by the credit institution

Nothing to report

31.12.2012

16. Subordinated liabilities
Carrying 
amount*

Nominal  
value Interest

Maturity 
date

Loan on debenture terms I/2008 15 023 15 000
Euribor  

3 month + 0.5% 15.1.2018

Loan on debenture terms II/2008 5 002 5 000
Euribor  

3 month + 0.75% 15.9.2018

*) includes transferred interests

Terms of both loans: The issuer reserves the right to repur-

chase the loan before the maturity date. The issuer or an 

affiliated company may repurchase the loan only to a minor 

extent before the end of the loan period without the approval 

of the Financial Supervisory Authority. The repurchase 

requires that the loans can be resold to a new investor 

within a short period. The noteholder does not have the right 

to require that the loan be repaid prematurely. The loan is 

subordinated to the bank’s other debt obligations. The loans 

on debenture terms I/2008 and II/2008 are included in full 

in lower Tier II own funds in S-Bank’s capital adequacy 

assessment.

12. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Deferred tax assets / liabilities arising from the fair value reserve -11 512 5 304

Deferred tax liability from appropriations 1 309 1 161

Deferred tax liability from consolidation measures 651 679

11. Accrued income and prepayments 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Interest income 31 253 20 860

Other accrued income 1 899 5 517

Total 33 152 26 377
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31.12.2012

17. Distribution of maturity of 
financial assets and liabilities 0–3 mos. 3–12 mos. 1–5 yrs 5–10 yrs

More than 
10 yrs Total

Cash 164 232 0 0 0 0 164 232

Debt securities eligible for refinancing 
with central banks 93 686 264 246 1 585 923 0 0 1 943 855

Receivables from credit institutions 46 214 0 0 0 0 46 214

Receivables from the public and 
public sector entities 71 652 43 923 174 142 58 412 11 906 360 035

Debt securities 13 314 102 736 302 799 19 434 0 438 283

Financial assets, total 389 098 410 904 2 062 864 77 846 11 906 2 952 619

Liabilities to credit institutions 0 0 300 000 0 0 300 000

Liabilities to the public and public 
sector entities 2 304 707 185 928 9 387 0 0 2 500 022

Subordinated liabilities 0 0 0 20 000 0 20 000

Financial liabilities, total 2 304 707 185 928 309 387 20 000 0 2 820 022

31.12.2011

0–3 mos. 3–12 mos. 1–5 yrs 5–10 yrs
More than 

10 yrs Total

Cash 6 785 0 0 0 0 6 785

Debt securities eligible for refinancing 
with central banks 25 422 223 902 1 590 945 0 0 1 840 269

Receivables from credit institutions 203 018 0 0 0 0 203 018

Receivables from the public and 
public sector entities 74 019 36 242 124 111 63 845 2 606 300 823

Debt securities 61 906 54 734 301 418 11 378 0 429 435

Financial assets, total 371 150 314 877 2 016 473 75 223 2 606 2 780 329

Liabilities to credit institutions 0 0 200 000 0 0 200 000

Liabilities to the public and public 
sector entities 2 082 698 366 382 59 043 0 0 2 508 123

Subordinated liabilities 0 0 0 20 000 0 20 000

Financial liabilities, total 2 082 698 366 382 259 043 20 000 0 2 728 123



46

31.12.2012

18. Breakdown of balance sheet items into 
domestic and foreign amounts and where 
counterparty is a group entity

Domestic 
currency

Foreign 
currency Total

From group  
entities

Balance sheet item

Cash 164 232 0 164 232 0

Receivables from credit institutions 46 190 25 46 214 1 111

Receivables from the public and public sector 
entities 360 035 0 360 035 9 334

Debt securities 2 375 472 6 666 2 382 138 0

Derivative contracts 69 110 179 0

Shares and participations 83 588 0 83 588 3 885

Intangible assets 12 573 0 12 573 0

Tangible assets 13 665 0 13 665 3 308

Other assets 35 370 0 35 370 130

Total 3 091 194 6 801 3 097 995 17 769

Liabilities to credit institutions 300 000 0 300 000 0

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 2 500 022 0 2 500 022 10 445

Derivative contracts 17 610 -9 17 601 0

Other liabilities 72 545 0 72 545 130

Total 2 890 177 -9 2 890 168 10 575
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19. Securities lending

Nothing to report

20. Securities repurchase agreements

Nothing to report

31.12.2011

Domestic 
currency

Foreign 
currency Total

From group 
entities

Balance sheet item

Cash 6 785 0 6 785 0

Receivables from credit institutions 203 018 0 203 018 534

Receivables from the public and public sector 
entities 300 823 0 300 823 9 870

Debt securities 2 269 704 0 2 269 704 0

Derivative contracts 511 0 511 0

Shares and participations 74 031 0 74 031 3 885

Intangible assets 12 780 0 12 780 0

Tangible assets 14 346 0 14 346 3 452

Other assets 35 645 0 35 645 414

Total 2 917 641 0 2 917 641 18 155

Liabilities to credit institutions 200 000 0 200 000 0

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 2 508 123 0 2 508 123 10 405

Derivative contracts 7 811 0 7 811 0

Other liabilities 50 550 0 50 550 414

Total 2 766 485 0 2 766 485 10 818
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22. Financial assets measured at cost instead of fair value

Nothing to report

         31.12.2012       31.12.2011

23. Fair values and carrying amounts  
of financial assets and liabilities

Carrying  
amount

Fair  
value

Carrying  
amount

Fair  
value

Financial assets

Cash 164 232 164 232 6 785 6 785

Receivables from credit institutions 46 214 46 219 203 018 203 015

Receivables from the public and public sector 
entities 360 035 362 888 300 823 302 393

Debt securities 2 382 138 2 411 706 2 269 704 2 288 812

Shares and participations 83 588 83 508 74 031 73 951

Shares and participations in associated companies 0 5 1 6

Derivative contracts 179 180 511 522

Financial liabilities  

Liabilities to credit institutions 300 000 302 718 200 000 200 013

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 2 500 022 2 507 551 2 508 123 2 519 893

Derivatives and other liabilities held for trading 17 610 21 459 7 811 10 593

Subordinated liabilities 20 000 19 836 20 000 19 902

21. Fair value measurement on a basis other than market value,  
and fair value changes recognised in the income statement

If the fair value of a financial instrument cannot be determined on the basis of prices quoted in active markets, fair 

value can be determined using generally accepted valuation methods in the markets. The fair value of financial assets 

and liabilities is determined by discounting future cash flows to the present value, applying market interest rates on 

the balance sheet date. 

Such changes in fair value for the 2012 and 2011 financial periods have not been entered in the income statement, 

excluding interest rate derivatives.
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24. Equity items 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Share capital; 1 Jan 33 540 33 540

Share capital; 31 Dec 33 540 33 540

Share premium reserve; 1 Jan 21 180 21 180

Share premium reserve; 31 Dec 21 180 21 180

Fair value reserve; 1 Jan -16 346 4 794

Increase (+)/decrease (-) 51 823 -21 140

Fair value reserve; 31 Dec 35 477 -16 346

Invested non-restricted equity reserve; 1 Jan 104 448 104 448

Invested non-restricted equity reserve; 31 Dec 104 448 104 448

Profit from previous periods; 1 Jan 8 334 1 381

Profit from previous periods; 31 Dec 8 334 1 381

Profit/loss for the financial period 4 838 6 953

Total 207 817 151 157

Accrued depreciation difference included in equity 2 706 2 465
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NOTES TO INCOME STATEMENT ITEMS, EUR THOUSAND

25. Interest income and expenses 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Interest income   

Receivables from credit institutions 431 1 300

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 21 743 23 835

Debt securities 54 107 49 145

Derivative contracts 2 506 1 804

Other interest income 0 39

Total 78 786 76 123

of which intra-group items 226 204

Interest expenses   

Liabilities to credit institutions 2 524 248

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 19 507 20 721

Derivative contracts 7 465 3 221

Other interest expenses 10 4

Subordinated liabilities 265 387

Total 29 770 24 581

of which intra-group items 226 204

26. Net income from leasing activities

Nothing to report

27. Income from equity investments

Nothing to report
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28. Fee and commission income and expenses 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Fee and commission income   

from lending 6 417 5 111

from borrowing 2 782 2 226

from payment transactions 4 122 3 412

from insurance brokerage 127 162

from other activities 84 70

 13 531 10 981

Fee and commission expenses   

Other 3 075 2 047

30. Net income from available-for-sale financial assets 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Net income from disposal of financial assets 16 164 3 450

Losses from impairment of financial assets 0 -1 920

Cancellation of losses from impairment of financial assets 325 0

Other income/expenses from available-for-sale financial assets 194 136

31. Net income from hedge accounting 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Net income from hedging instruments -13 0

Net income from hedging subjects 7 0

31.12.2012

29. Net income from securities trading 
and currency operations

Gains and losses 
on sales (net

Changes in 
fair value (net) Total

from debt securities 0 33 33

from derivative contracts -3 298 -10 105 -13 404

Net income from securities trading, total -3 298 -10 072 -13 371

Net income from currency operations 25 -9 16

Balance sheet item, total -3 273 -10 081 -13 355

31.12.2011

Gains and losses 
on sales (net

Changes in 
fair value (net) Total

from derivative contracts -112 -7 235 -7 347

Net income from securities trading, total -112 -7 235 -7 347

Balance sheet item, total -112 -7 235 -7 347
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32. Net income from investment property 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Rental income 1 193 864

Depreciation according to plan -680 -510

 513 354

33. Other operating income 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Other income 5 092 3 557

34. Other operating expenses 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Rental expenses 1 578 1 474

Other expenses 2 203 1 806

Total 3 781 3 280

35. Depreciation, amortisation and impairment  
losses on tangible and intangible assets 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Depreciation according to plan 4 269 4 148

There are no impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets

31.12.2012

36. Impairment losses on loans, other 
commitments and other financial assets

Realised 
contract- 

specific credit 
losses, gross

Group- 
specific 

impairment 
losses, gross Deductions Total

Receivables from the public and  
public sector entities 1 672 8 664 9 368 968

31.12.2011

Realised 
contract- 

specific credit 
losses, gross

Group- 
specific 

impairment 
losses, gross

Deductions Total

Receivables from the public and  
public sector entities 2 695 7 912 9 895 713

37. Income and expenses from other than ordinary activities

Nothing to report

38. Information on business areas and geographical market areas

Nothing to report
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41. Leasing and other rental liabilities 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Due in one year 226 189

Due in more than one year and less than five years 210 259

Due in more than five years 0 0

Total 436 448

The lease liabilities relate substantially to vehicles. The agreements are not cancellable in mid-term.

43. Off-balance sheet commitments 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Undrawn credit facilities 659 036 584 241

Off-balance sheet commitments have not been given on behalf of companies included in the same Group.

42. Other financial liabilities

The Group is obligated to audit the valued added tax depreciation it has performed on real estate investments if the 
taxable use of the property decreases during the period being audited. The maximum amount of the liability is EUR 
1.6 million.

       Other collateral

39. Collateral provided 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Loan receivables from credit institutions* 20 600 7 460

* S-Bank has provided collateral on the basis of agreements relating to derivative trading (ISDA/CSA)

44. Collateral received in transfer as referred to in the Financial Collateral Act

Nothing to report

40. Pension liabilities

The statutory pension security for the personnel has been arranged through  
LähiTapiola General Mutual Insurance Company.

45. Broking receivables and payables

Nothing to report

46. Other off-balance sheet arrangements

Nothing to report

NOTES ON COLLATERAL AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, 
EUR THOUSAND
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NOTES ON STAFF AND MANAGEMENT

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS, EUR THOUSAND

     2012       2011

47. Personnel
Average  
number

Number on  
31 Dec 2012

Average  
number

Number on  
31 Dec 2011

Permanent full-time staff 196 203 159 173

Permanent part-time staff 61 64 46 55

Fixed-term staff 16 19 14 11

Total 272 286 218 239

Salaries and fees paid to management  
(EUR thousand)   2012 2011

Managing Director and his deputy   355 352

Executive Board   No fees paid

The amount of loans granted to the Managing Director, his deputy and the Executive Board is stated in the note on
related-party lending. There is no personnel in the real estate companies belonging to the same Group.

48. Loans and other financial receivables from 
related parties of the credit institution, and 
investments made in such entities and 
guarantees and collateral provided by third 
parties on behalf of such entities for repayment 
of loans

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Receivables from the public 
and public sector entities

Receivables from the public 
and public sector entities

Basis for classification as a related party

Ownership 4 695 9 975

Management 44 25

Management of holding company 45 29

Total 4 784 10 028

No contract-specific impairment losses associated with related-party lending. The terms of card loans granted to the 
company’s related parties comply with the standard terms and conditions of lending to the public.
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SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

OTHER NOTES

NOTE ONAUDIT FEES, EUR THOUSAND

49. Subsidiaries Registered office Ownership

S-Asiakaspalvelu Oy  Helsinki 100%

Kiinteistö Oy Lempäälän terminaali Helsinki 100%

Kiinteistö Oy Limingan terminaali Helsinki 100%

Subsidiaries have been consolidated using the acquisition cost method

Associated companies Registered office Ownership

S-Crosskey Ab Maarianhamina 40%

Associated companies have been consolidated using the equity method.

50. Note on trustee services and total amount of customer funds

Nothing to report

51. Information on the auditors’ fees 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Auditing 98 105

Other services 28 91
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Bank, balance sheet

ASSETS, EUR THOUSAND Note 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Cash 18, 19, 24 164 062 6 670

Debt securities eligible for refinancing with central banks    

Other 3,18, 19, 24 1 943 855 1 840 269

Receivables from credit institutions 1,18, 19, 24 46 214 203 018

Repayable on demand  576 512

Other  45 638 202 506

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 2,18, 19, 24 369 369 310 693

Repayable on demand  10 592 9 716

Other  358 777 300 976

Debt securities 3,18, 19, 24   

Other  438 283 429 435

Shares and participations 5, 19, 24 83 588 74 031

Shares and participations in associated companies 5, 24 3 3

Shares and participations in companies belonging  
to the same Group 5, 24 3 882 3 882

Derivative contracts 6, 19, 24 179 511

Intangible assets 7,10, 19 12 506 12 687

Other assets 11 1 994 3 748

Accrued income and prepayments 12 33 116 26 324

ASSETS, TOTAL  3 097 052 2 911 271
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LIABILITIES, EUR THOUSAND Note 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

LIABILITIES

Liabilities to credit institutions    

To central banks 18, 19, 24 300 000 200 000

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 18, 19, 24 2 501 133 2 508 658

Deposits  2 473 028 2 473 145

Repayable on demand  1 963 949 1 804 170

Other  509 079 668 975

Other liabilities  28 105 35 513

Repayable on demand  27 219 31 628

Other  886 3 885

Derivatives and other liabilities held for trading 6, 19, 24 17 610 7 811

Other liabilities 15, 19   

Other liabilities  19 970 13 485

Accruals, deferred income and advances received 16 18 344 14 834

Subordinated liabilities    

Other 17, 18, 24 20 000 20 000

LIABILITIES TOTAL  2 877 056 2 764 788

ACCUMULATED APPROPRIATIONS    

Depreciation difference  1 435 3 248

Voluntary provisions  2 210 0

ACCUMULATED APPROPRIATIONS TOTAL  3 645 3 248

EQUITY    

Share capital 25, 26 33 540 33 540

Share premium reserve 25 21 180 21 180

Other restricted reserves    

Fair value reserve 25   

On measurement at fair value  46 989 -21 650

Non-restricted reserves    

Invested non-restricted equity reserve 25 104 448 104 448

Profit (loss) from previous financial periods 25 5 716 -1 084

Profit (loss) for the financial period 25 4 477 6 800

EQUITY, TOTAL 25 216 351 143 235

LIABILITIES, TOTAL  3 097 052 2 911 271

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS    

Commitments given on behalf of a customer 46   

Irrevocable  65 655 36 259

Other  594 381 547 982
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BANK, INCOME STATEMENT

EUR thousand Note 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Interest income 29 79 012 76 325

Interest expenses 29 -29 770 -24 581

NET INTEREST INCOME  49 242 51 744

Fee and commission income 32 13 531 10 981

Fee and commission expenses 32 -3 075 -2 047

Net income from securities trading and currency 
operations    

Net income from securities trading 33 -13 371 -7 347

Net income from currency operations 33 16 0

Net income from available-for-sale financial assets 34 16 684 1 665

Net income from hedge accounting 35 -6 0

Net income from investment property 36 204 -65

Other operating income 37 3 310 1 994

Administrative expenses  -51 688 -41 540

Personnel expenses    

Salaries, wages and remuneration  -8 551 -7 324

Indirect personnel expenses    

Pension expenses  -1 537 -1 275

Other indirect personnel expenses  -396 -423

Other administrative expenses  -41 203 -32 519

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of tangible 
and intangible assets 39 -4 244 -4 122

Other operating expenses 38 -3 307 -2 870

Impairment losses on loans and other receivables 40 -968 -713

OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS)  6 329 7 680

Appropriations  -397 1

Income taxes  -1 455 -880

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD  4 477 6 800
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BANK, CASH FLOW STATEMENT

EUR thousand 1.1.–31.12.2012 1.1.–31.12.2011

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS   

Interest, fee and commission income 88 412 86 450

Interest, fee and commission expenses -30 162 -20 305

Payments received on loans recorded as credit losses 456 305

Other income 14 680 -3 105

Payments to suppliers of goods and services, and personnel -52 276 -44 613

 21 111 18 732

Increase (-) or decrease (+) in operating assets:   

Current assets 5 638 -4 821

Net increase in credit card and overdraft receivables -59 972 -12 397

Increase (+) or decrease (-) in operating liabilities:   

Deposits from customers -117 21 123

Current liabilities 98 138 207 866

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities before income taxes 64 798 230 502

Income taxes -2 595 0

Net cash from operations 62 203 230 502

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES   

Acquisition of subsidiaries 0 -3 832

Other shares and participations -23 0

Purchase of intangible assets -4 063 -4 231

Net cash provided by (used in) investment activities -4 086 -8 063

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   

Increase in equity 0 0

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 0 0

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 58 117 222 439

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial period 2 575 756 2 353 316

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial period 2 633 872 2 575 756
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S-BANK LTD’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with the Accounting Act and, as applicable, with the pro-

visions of the Credit Institutions Act and the Ministry of 

Finance Decree on Financial Statements and Consolidated 

Financial Statements of Credit Institutions and Investment 

Firms (MFD) as well as the Finnish Financial Supervisory 

Authority’s regulations concerning the income statement, 

balance sheet and notes to the financial statements, effec-

tive as of 1 December 2005 and updated on 18 November 

2008. In preparing the financial statements, the general 

instructions issued by the Finnish Accounting Standards 

Board (KILA) have also been considered, as applicable.

The financial statements have been prepared pursuant to 

the Financial Supervisory Authority’s regulations concerning 

the market disclosure of capital adequacy information.

Items denominated in foreign currency
The financial statements are presented in euros. The items 

denominated in foreign currency were recognised at the rate 

on the date of the transaction. On the balance sheet date, 

the items denominated in foreign currency are converted 

into euros at the exchange rate of the balance sheet date.

Exchange rate differences are recognised as exchange rate 

profit/loss in the income statement, as regards financial 

items, they are recognised in net income from securities 

trading and currency operations, and as regards trade pay-

ables, in other administration costs.

Financial assets and liabilities
S-Bank Ltd applies a settlement-date practice when recog-

nising financial assets and liabilities in the balance sheet. 

An item belonging to financial assets or liabilities is initially 

recognised in the accounts at fair value, including transac-

tion costs.

On initial recognition, financial assets and liabilities are 

classified as financial assets or liabilities at fair value 

through profit and loss, financial assets held to maturity, 

available-for-sale financial assets, loans and other receiva-

bles, and other financial liabilities. Financial assets and 

liabilities are measured at fair value or amortised cost using 

the effective interest method in accordance with their clas-

sification.

The fair value of a financial instrument is determined on 

the basis of prices quoted in active markets or by using 

measurement methods that are generally applied in the 

markets. The fair values of certificates of deposit, commer-

cial papers or derivative contracts (excluding futures con-

tracts) are determined by discounting future cash flows to 

the present value, applying market interest rates on the 

balance sheet date. Bonds, notes and futures contracts are 

measured at market prices. Financial assets at fair value 

are measured using the bid price, while financial liabilities 

at fair value are measured using the asked rate.

Financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit and 

loss include bonds and notes and other domestic and for-

eign securities and participations that are actively traded 

and have been acquired for short-term gain. Derivative 

contracts to which hedge accounting has not been applied 

are also included. On the balance sheet date, S-Bank 

entered only derivative contracts in this item.

Financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit and 

loss are measured at fair value. The change in fair value is 

entered in the income statement. The difference between 

the balance sheet date value of the financial instruments 

recognised at fair value and the carrying value from the 

previous financial statements is recognised as the income or 

expense for the period in the income statement. If the finan-

cial instrument recognised at fair value was acquired during 

the financial period, the difference between the value of the 

financial instrument on the balance sheet date and its acqui-

sition cost is entered as the income or expense for the period.

Held-to-maturity investments include bonds and notes and 

other non-derivative investments that are connected to fixed 

or determinable payments, mature on a certain date or are 

held to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are meas-

ured at amortised acquisition cost using the effective inter-

est method. On the balance sheet date, S-Bank had no 

financial assets that would have been recognised as finan-

cial assets held to maturity.

Financial assets which are not quoted on the secondary 

market, for which the payments are fixed or floating and 

which do not fall under financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss, financial assets held to maturity or availa-
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ble-for-sale financial assets are recognised as loans and 

other receivables. The transaction costs related to loans and 

other receivables are included in the amortised acquisition 

cost measured using the effective interest method and 

amortised through profit and loss over the term-to-maturity 

of the receivable. After the initial recognition, loans and 

other receivables are measured at amortised acquisition 

cost using the effective interest method.

Debt securities and other domestic and foreign securities, 

not recorded in financial assets at fair value through profit 

and loss, investments held to maturity, or loans and other 

receivables, are recorded in available-for-sale financial 

assets. Financial assets available for sale are measured at 

fair value. The fair value of publicly traded investments is 

defined on the basis of their market value. Investments that 

are not publicly quoted are measured by means of generally 

approved valuation methods in the market. Should this not 

yield a reliably definable fair value, the acquisition cost is 

used. The change in fair value is recorded directly in equity 

in the fair value reserve. When the financial instrument is 

sold, the cumulative change in fair value recorded in equity, 

together with accrued interest and capital gains or losses, 

is recognised in the income statement.

An item belonging to other financial liabilities is recognised 

in the financial statements at its nominal value when its fair 

value is the nominal value. If the debt capital received differs 

from the nominal value of the liability, the liability is entered 

in the amount received. The amount of the difference 

between the debt’s nominal value and the cost, which is 

recognised as expense or income for the period, is amortised 

and recognised as an increase or decrease in the cost of debt. 

The difference between the nominal value and cost, or a 

debt-related fee, or an expense that is part of a debt-related 

interest expense, is amortised using the effective interest 

method as an expense for the term-to-maturity of the debt. 

Other financial liabilities are measured at the amortised cost 

on the balance sheet date using the effective interest method.  

Impairment of financial assets
On each balance sheet date, the Corporation assesses 

whether there is any objective evidence that the value of an 

item, other than those classified as financial assets at fair 

value through profit and loss, is impaired. Objective evi-

dence is, for example, a customer’s delay in payment, 

insolvency or bankruptcy, reorganisation or rearrangement 

of debts, or a major change in the credit rating. Should 

there be objective evidence of impairment, an impairment 

loss is recorded. 

The amount of an impairment loss on financial assets 

recorded at amortised cost is determined as the difference 

between the carrying amount of an asset and the present 

value of estimated future cash flows from the asset, includ-

ing the fair value of any collateral. The discount rate applied 

is the original effective interest rate of the receivable. The 

difference is recognised as an impairment loss in the 

income statement, and the accrual of interest is continued 

on the lowered balance at the original effective interest rate 

of the contract. If the amount of an impairment loss sub-

sequently decreases and the change is attributable to an 

event that has taken place after the recognition of the 

impairment loss, the impairment loss is reversed. Notwith-

standing what is mentioned above, S-Bank estimates credit 

card and consumer credit receivables on a group-specific 

basis, but on the basis of the above-mentioned criteria for 

evaluation of impairment.

When there is objective evidence of the impairment of bonds, 

notes, or shares included in available-for-sale financial assets, 

the cumulative loss that had been directly recognised in 

equity is removed from equity and recognised in the income 

statement as an impairment loss. The impairment loss of a 

share that is not publicly quoted is determined as being the 

difference between the carrying amount and the present 

value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the market 

yield of a similar item on the reporting date. Should the fair 

value of notes or bonds classified as available-for-sale sub-

sequently increase and should the increase objectively relate 

to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, 

the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed and 

recognised through profit and loss. If the fair value of a share 

later increases, the increase in value is recognised in equity.

Hedge accounting
Derivative contracts are primarily used for hedging pur-

poses, but S-Bank has not previously applied hedge 

accounting. At the end of the period under review, S-Bank 

started to apply small-scale hedge accounting of fair value 

to agreements that meet such documented efficiency and 

other prerequisites that relate to hedge accounting. In these 

cases, the open interest rate risk is protected with interest 

rate swaps that have further been determined to be protec-

tive items in hedge accounting.

The changes in fair value resulting from hedged risk of 

protected items are recognised under item “Net result from 

hedge accounting” in the income statement. The changes 

in fair value other than those resulting from hedged risk are 

recognised in the fair value reserve.
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The changes in fair value of the protected items included 

in hedge accounting are recognised under item “Net result 

from hedge accounting” in the income statement.

Linked derivative
A linked derivative is part of a hybrid instrument that also 

contains a non-derivative main contract. Because of this, 

part of the cash flow of the hybrid instrument fluctuates 

in a manner similar to the cash flow of a standalone deriv-

ative. A linked derivative must be separated from the main 

contract and considered to be a derivative in accounting, 

provided that the requirements for separation stated in 

the standards issued by the Financial Supervisory Author-

ity are met. One such requirement is, for example, that 

the financial characteristics and risks of the linked deriv-

ative and the main contract are not closely linked.

During previous financial periods, S-Bank issued subor-

dinated debenture loans that can be categorised as the 

above-mentioned hybrid instruments due to options 

included in the contracts and because these options enti-

tle the bank to repayment of debt before the maturity 

date. During previous financial periods, S-Bank also 

acquired a digital option linked to a bond as part of the 

hedging transaction relating to the investment deposit.

S-Bank does not separate linked derivatives from the main 

contracts in the case of the above-mentioned debenture 

loans. The financial characteristics and risks are consid-

ered to be closely linked to the main contracts as the 

option exercise prices correspond to the amortised cost 

of the debt contracts at all exercise periods. However, 

S-Bank separates the digital option from the main con-

tract and handles it as a derivative in accounting.

Principles of income recognition
Interest income and expenses
Interest on financial assets and liabilities is periodised as 

interest income and expenses for the financial periods to 

which they are to be allocated over time.

Fee and commission income and expenses  
Fee and commission income and expenses arise from ser-

vices offered to customers and from the resources needed 

to provide these services. Fee and commission income and 

expenses are recognised when the services have been ren-

dered or received. Income and expenses for services that 

are provided over several years are allocated to the appro-

priate years.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets consist of licence fees for software and 

connection charges. The capitalised expenses of software 

also include the costs arising from a modification of the 

software licensed to S-Bank. Intangible assets are meas-

ured at cost and amortised over their estimated economic 

lives using the straight line method.

Amortisation periods for intangible assets
Software licence fees: 5 years

Connection charges: 5 years

Tangible assets
Tangible assets are measured at original acquisition cost 

less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if 

any. Straight-line depreciation is recorded on tangible 

assets in accordance with each item’s economic life. Land 

areas are not depreciated.

The depreciation periods for tangible assets / 
investment properties

Buildings: 25 years

Equipment in buildings: 10 years

Investment property
Investment properties are properties used by operations 

outside the Group and held by the Group for the primary 

reason of obtaining rental income and possibly an appreci-

ation in the asset value. Investment properties are meas-

ured at original acquisition cost, less accumulated depre-

ciation and any impairment losses, in accordance with the 

same principles that are applied to real estate belonging to 

tangible assets. Leases are recognised as income in the net 

income from investment property over the lease period.

Income taxes
Income taxes include the current taxes based on taxable 

income for the financial period and corrections to taxes for 

previous periods. The tax effect of items directly recognised 

in equity is correspondingly directly recognised in equity. 

Taxes are calculated using the tax rates valid on the balance 

sheet date and, if there is a change in tax rates, at the 

enacted tax rate.

Deferred tax assets or liabilities are not presented in S-Bank 

Ltd’s income statement and balance sheet. Deferred tax 

assets and liabilities that are material in amount are pre-

sented in the specification of taxes in the notes to the 

financial statements.
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NOTES TO BALANCE SHEET ITEMS, BANK, EUR THOUSAND

            31.12.2012

1. Receivables from credit institutions
Repayable on 

demand

Other than  
repayable  

on demand Total

From Finnish credit institutions 375 34 148 34 523

From foreign credit institutions 201 11 490 11 691

Receivables from credit institutions, total 576 45 638 46 214

2. Receivables from the public and public sector entities  31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Companies and housing associations 112 525 105 672

Financial and insurance institutions 579 2 028

Public sector entities 0 110

Households 241 372 202 765

Non-profit organisations serving households 0 101

Foreign countries 14 893 16

Total 369 369 310 693

The credit loss provisions allocated to item Receivables from the public and  
public sector entities totalled EUR 2,210 thousand.

Impairment losses at beginning of year 7 912 7 089

Group-specific impairment losses recorded in the period 8 664 7 912

Group-specific impairment losses reversed in the period -7 912 -7 089

Impairment losses at year-end 8 664 7 912

           31.12.2011

Repayable on 
demand

Other than  
repayable  

on demand
Total

From the central bank 0 195 000 195 000

From Finnish credit institutions 492 1 196 1 688

From foreign credit institutions 20 6 310 6 330

Receivables from credit institutions, total 512 202 506 203 018
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3. Debt securities 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Those issued by public sector entities
Other than 

publicly quoted
Other than 

publicly quoted

Available for sale   

Treasury bonds and notes 25 348 38 814

Other bonds and notes issued by public sector entities 0 5 087

Debt securities not issued by public sector entities   

Available for sale   

Banks' certificates of deposits 36 764 69 627

Commercial papers 8 998 1 980

Bonds and notes issued by banks 2 135 008 2 025 452

Other debt securities 176 020 128 745

Debt securities, total 2 382 138 2 269 704

– eligible for refinancing with central banks 1 943 855 1 840 269

– subordinated 0 6 935

5. Shares and participations                 31.12.2012

Publicly quoted Other Total

Shares and participations

Available for sale 83 565 23 83 588

Shares and participations in companies belonging 
to the same Group 0 3 882 3 882

Shares and participations in associated companies 0 3 3

Total 83 565 3 909 87 473

– of which in credit institutions 11 519   

                31.12.2011

Publicly quoted Other Total

Shares and participations

Available for sale 74 031 0 74 031

Shares and participations in companies belonging 
to the same Group 0 3 882 3 882

Shares and participations in associated companies 0 3 3

Total 74 031 3 885 77 916

– of which in credit institutions 9 465   

4. Assets leased under finance leases

Nothing to report



65

           31.12.2012

6. Derivative contracts Nominal value
Positive 

fair value
Negative 
fair value

For hedging purposes

Interest rate derivatives    

Interest rate swaps 11 000 0 -13

Of the nominal value of derivatives in hedge accounting, EUR 11,000 thousand mature in 1–5 years.

           31.12.2012

For non-hedging purposes Nominal value
Positive 

fair value
Negative 
fair value

Interest rate derivatives    

Futures and forwards 365 000 0 -1 307

Option agreements, bought 45 000 49 -12

Option agreements, written 95 000 15 -533

Interest rate swaps 611 026 0 -15 731

Currency derivatives    

Futures and forwards 6 052 51 -9

Interest rate and currency swaps 773 60 0

Equity derivatives    

Option agreements, bought 5 353 5 0

Option agreements, written 5 353 0 -5

Of the nominal value of the derivatives not in hedge accounting, EUR 500,784 thousand mature in less than 
one year, EUR 627,773 thousand in 1–5 years, and EUR 5,000 thousand in more than five years.

           31.12.2011

For non-hedging purposes Nominal value
Positive 

fair value
Negative 
fair value

Interest rate derivatives    

Futures and forwards 7 500 0 -26

Interest rate swaps 531 026 427 -7 701

Equity derivatives    

Option agreements, bought 8 893 7 0

Option agreements, written 8 893 0 -7

Of the nominal value of the derivatives not in hedge accounting, EUR 149,580 thousand mature in less than 
one year and EUR 406,732 thousand in 1–5 years.
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7. Intangible assets 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Capitalised IT expenditure 12 506 12 174

Other intangible assets 0 514

Total  12 506 12 687

8. Tangible assets

Nothing to report

9. Investment property measured at fair value

Nothing to report

10. Changes in intangible and tangible assets
during the financial year 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Prepayments for intangible assets   

Acquisition cost; 1 Jan 7 703 3 757

Increase 1 606 4 227

Transfers between items -6 362 -281

Acquisition cost; 31 Dec 2 947 7 703

Carrying amount; 31 Dec 2 947 7 703

Intangible assets   

Acquisition cost; 1 Jan 21 893 21 608

Increase 2 456 4

Transfers between items 6 362 281

Acquisition cost; 31 Dec 30 712 21 893

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and impairment; 1 Jan -16 909 -12 786

Depreciation for the period -4 244 -4 122

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation; 31 Dec -21 153 -16 909

Carrying amount; 31 Dec 9 559 4 985

Intangible assets, total; 31 Dec 12 506 12 687
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11. Other assets 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Other 1 994 3 748

Total 1 994 3 748

12. Accrued income and prepayments 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Interest income 31 253 20 860

Other accrued income 1 863 5 464

Total 33 116 26 324

15. Other liabilities 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Payables arising from payment transactions 13 467 9 282

Other 6 502 4 204

Other liabilities, total 19 970 13 485

14. Debt securities issued to the public by the credit institution

Nothing to report

13. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Deferred tax assets / liabilities arising from the fair value reserve -11 512 5 304

Deferred tax liability from appropriations 893 796
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16. Accruals, deferred income and advances received 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Interest expenses 13 475 10 792

Other accrued expenses 4 869 4 042

Total 18 344 14 834

31.12.2012

17. Subordinated liabilities
Carrying 
amount*

Nominal 
value Interest

Maturity  
date

Loan on debenture terms I/2008 15 023 15 000
Euribor  

3 month + 0.5% 15.1.2018

Loan on debenture terms II/2008 5 002 5 000
Euribor  

3 month + 0.75% 15.9.2018

*) includes transferred interests

Terms of both loans: The issuer reserves the right to 

repurchase the loan before the maturity date. The issuer 

or an affiliated company may repurchase the loan only to 

a minor extent before the end of the loan period without 

the approval of the Financial Supervisory Authority. The 

repurchase requires that the loans can be resold to a new 

investor within a short period. The noteholder does not 

have the right to require that the loan be repaid prema-

turely. The loan is subordinated to the bank’s other debt 

obligations. The loans on debenture terms I/2008 and 

II/2008 are included in full in lower Tier II own funds in 

S-Bank’s capital adequacy assessment. 
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31.12.2012

18. Distribution of maturity of 
financial assets and liabilities 0–3 mos. 3–12 mos. 1–5 yrs 5–10 yrs

More than 
10 yrs Total

Cash 164 062 0 0 0 0 164 062

Debt securities eligible for refinancing 
with central banks 93 686 264 246 1 585 923 0 0 1 943 855

Receivables from credit institutions 46 214 0 0 0 0 46 214

Receivables from the public and 
public sector entities 71 652 43 923 183 476 58 412 11 906 369 369

Debt securities 13 314 102 736 302 799 19 434 0 438 283

Financial assets, total 388 928 410 904 2 072 198 77 846 11 906 2 961 783

Liabilities to credit institutions 0 0 300 000 0 0 300 000

Liabilities to the public and public 
sector entities 2 305 818 185 928 9 387 0 0 2 501 133

Subordinated liabilities 0 0 0 20 000 0 20 000

Financial liabilities, total 2 305 818 185 928 309 387 20 000 0 2 821 133

31.12.2011

0–3 mos. 3–12 mos. 1–5 yrs 5–10 yrs
More than 

10 yrs Total

Cash 6 670 0 0 0 0 6 670

Debt securities eligible for refinancing 
with central banks 25 422 223 902 1 590 945 0 0 1 840 269

Receivables from credit institutions 203 018 0 0 0 0 203 018

Receivables from the public and 
public sector entities 74 019 36 242 133 981 63 845 2 606 310 693

Debt securities 61 906 54 734 301 418 11 378 0 429 435

Financial assets, total 371 036 314 877 2 026 344 75 223 2 606 2 790 085

Liabilities to credit institutions 0 0 200 000 0 0 200 000

Liabilities to the public and public 
sector entities 2 083 233 366 382 59 043 0 0 2 508 658

Subordinated liabilities 0 0 0 20 000 0 20 000

Financial liabilities, total 2 083 233 366 382 259 043 20 000 0 2 728 658
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31.12.2012

19. Breakdown of balance sheet items into 
domestic and foreign amounts and where 
counterparty is a group entity

Domestic 
currency

Foreign 
currency Total

From group 
entities

Balance sheet item

Cash 164 062 0 164 062 0

Receivables from credit institutions 46 190 25 46 214 0

Receivables from the public and  
public sector entities 369 369 0 369 369 9 334

Debt securities 2 375 472 6 666 2 382 138 0

Derivative contracts 69 110 179 0

Shares and participations 87 473 0 87 473 3 882

Intangible assets 12 506 0 12 506 0

Other assets 35 111 0 35 111 1

Total 3 090 251 6 801 3 097 052 13 217

Liabilities to credit institutions 300 000 0 300 000 0

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 2 501 133 0 2 501 133 1 111

Derivative contracts 17 601 9 17 610 0

Other liabilities 58 314 0 58 314 129

Total 2 877 047 9 2 877 056 1 240

31.12.2011

Domestic 
currency

Foreign 
currency Total

From group 
entities

Balance sheet item

Cash 6 670 0 6 670 0

Receivables from credit institutions 203 018 0 203 018 0

Receivables from the public and  
public sector entities 310 693 0 310 693 9 870

Debt securities 2 269 704 0 2 269 704 0

Derivative contracts 511 0 511 0

Shares and participations 77 916 0 77 916 3 882

Intangible assets 12 687 0 12 687 0

Other assets 30 072 0 30 072 3

Total 2 911 271 0 2 911 271 13 755

Liabilities to credit institutions 200 000 0 200 000 0

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 2 508 658 0 2 508 658 534

Derivative contracts 7 811 0 7 811 0

Other liabilities 48 319 0 48 319 411

Total 2 764 788 0 2 764 788 945
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23. Financial assets measured at cost instead of fair value

Nothing to report

22. Fair value measurement on a basis other than market value, and 
fair value changes recognised in the income statement

If the fair value of a financial instrument cannot be determined on the basis of prices quoted in active markets, fair 
value can be determined using generally accepted valuation methods in the markets. The fair value of financial assets 
and liabilities is determined by discounting future cash flows to the present value, applying market interest rates on 
the balance sheet date.

Such changes in fair value for the 2012 and 2011 financial periods have not been entered in the income statement, 
excluding interest rate derivatives.

       31.12.2012       31.12.2011

24. Fair values and carrying amounts 
of financial assets and liabilities

Carrying  
amount Fair value

Carrying  
amount Fair value

Financial assets

Cash 164 062 164 062 6 670 6 670

Receivables from credit institutions 46 214 46 219 203 018 203 015

Receivables from the public and  
public sector entities 369 369 372 524 310 693 312 671

Debt securities* 2 382 138 2 411 706 2 269 704 2 288 812

Shares and participations 83 588 83 508 74 031 73 951

Shares and participations in associated companies 3 5 3 6

Shares and participations in companies  
belonging to the same Group 3 882 3 903 3 882 3 884

Derivative contracts 179 180 511 522

Financial liabilities     

Liabilities to credit institutions 300 000 302 718 200 000 200 013

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 2 501 133 2 508 662 2 508 658 2 520 428

Derivatives and other liabilities held for trading 17 610 21 459 7 811 10 593

Subordinated liabilities 20 000 19 836 20 000 19 902

20. Securities lending

Nothing to report

21. Securities repurchase agreements

Nothing to report
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25. Equity items 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Share capital; 1 Jan 33 540 33 540

Share capital; 31 Dec 33 540 33 540

Share premium reserve; 1 Jan 21 180 21 180

Share premium reserve; 31 Dec 21 180 21 180

Fair value reserve; 1 Jan -21 650 4 794

Increase (+)/decrease(-) 68 639 -26 444

Fair value reserve; 31 Dec 46 989 -21 650

Invested non-restricted equity reserve; 1 Jan 104 448 104 448

Invested non-restricted equity reserve; 31 Dec 104 448 104 448

Profit (loss) from previous periods; 1 Jan 5 716 -1 084

Profit (loss) from previous periods; 31 Dec 5 716 -1 084

Profit/loss for the financial period 4 477 6 800

Total 216 351 143 235

Non-distributable items included in non-restricted equity 0 0

26. Share capital

6,708 shares at EUR 5,000 each, totalling EUR 33,540,000.  
No share classes entitling their holders to a different number of votes or a different sized dividend.

27. Share issues, rights of option, and issue of convertible debentures 

Nothing to report
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28. Shareholders and distribution of shareholdings

Owner

SOK Corporation 50.0%

Helsinki Cooperative Society Elanto, Helsinki 10.0%

Cooperative Society Hämeenmaa, Lahti 3.9%

Cooperative Society OSLA, Porvoo 0.6%

Cooperative Society Varuboden, Kirkkonummi 0.9%

Cooperative Society Keskimaa, Jyväskylä 3.3%

Cooperative Society Ympäristö, Kouvola 1.4%

Cooperative Society Suur-Savo, Mikkeli 1.8%

Cooperative Society Ympyrä, Hamina 1.0%

Southern Karelia Cooperative Society, Lappeenranta 1.3%

Cooperative Society PeeÄssä, Kuopio 2.9%

Cooperative Society Maakunta, Kajaani 1.0%

Cooperative Society Jukola, Nurmes 0.2%

Northern Karelia Cooperative Society, Joensuu 1.6%

Koillismaa Cooperative Society, Kuusamo 0.4%

Cooperative Society Arina, Oulu 3.3%

Pirkanmaa Cooperative Society, Tampere 3.6%

Cooperative Society Keula, Rauma 0.8%

Satakunta Cooperative Society, Pori 1.5%

Suur-Seutu Cooperative Society SSO, Salo 2.3%

Turku Cooperative Society, Turku 3.0%

Southern Ostrobothnia Cooperative Society, Seinäjoki 2.4%

Cooperative Society KPO, Kokkola 2.9%

Lappajärvi Cooperative Society, Lappajärvi 0.0%

Total 100.0%
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29. Interest income and expenses 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Interest income  

Receivables from credit institutions 431 1 300

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 21 969 24 037

Debt securities 54 107 49 145

Derivative contracts 2 506 1 804

Other interest income 0 39

Total 79 012 76 325

of which intra-group items 226 202

Interest expenses   

Liabilities to credit institutions 2 524 248

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 19 507 20 723

Derivative contracts 7 465 3 221

Other interest expenses 10 3

Subordinated liabilities 265 387

Total 29 770 24 581

of which intra-group items 0 2

30. Net income from leasing activities

Nothing to report

31. Income from equity investments

Nothing to report

NOTES TO INCOME STATEMENT ITEMS,  
EUR THOUSAND
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34. Net income from available-for-sale financial assets 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Net income from disposal of financial assets 16 164 3 450

Losses from impairment of financial assets 0 -1 920

Cancellation of losses from impairment of financial assets 325 0

Other income/expenses from available-for-sale financial assets 194 136

31.12.2012

33. Net income from securities trading and 
currency operations

Gains and losses 
on sales (net)

Changes in 
fair value (net) Total

from debt securities 0 33 33

from derivative contracts -3 298 -10 105 -13 404

Net income from securities trading, total -3 298 -10 072 -13 371

Net income from currency operations 25 -9 16

Balance sheet item, total -3 273 -10 081 -13 355

31.12.2011

Gains and losses 
on sales (net)

Changes in 
fair value (net) Total

from derivative contracts -112 -7 235 -7 347

Net income from securities trading, total -112 -7 235 -7 347

Balance sheet item, total -112 -7 235 -7 347

32. Fee and commission income and expenses 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Fee and commission income

from lending 6 417 5 111

from borrowing 2 782 2 226

from payment transactions 4 122 3 412

from insurance brokerage 127 162

from other activities 84 70

 13 531 10 981

Fee and commission expenses   

Other 3 075 2 047

35. Net income from hedge accounting 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Net income from hedging instruments -13 0

Net income from hedging subjects 7 0
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35. Net income from investment property 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Rental income 1 193 864

Rental expenses -989 -928

 204 -65

37. Other operating income 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Other income 3 310 1 994

38. Other operating expenses 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Rental expenses 1 121 1 069

Other expenses 2 186 1 801

Total 3 307 2 870

39. Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses  
on tangible and intangible assets 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Intangible assets   

Depreciation according to plan 4 244 4 122

There are no impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets

31.12.2012

40. Impairment losses on loans, other 
commitments and other financial assets

Realised 
contract- 

specific credit  
losses, gross

Group-s 
pecific 

impairment 
losses, gross Deductions Total

Receivables from the public and  
public sector entities 1 672 8 664 9 368 968

31.12.2011

Realised 
contract- 

specific credit  
losses, gross

Group-s 
pecific 

impairment 
losses, gross Deductions Total

Receivables from the public and  
public sector entities 2 695 7 912 9 895 713

41. Income and expenses from other than ordinary activities

Nothing to report

42. Information on business areas and geographical market areas

Nothing to report
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45. Leasing and other rental liabilities 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Due in one year 194 157

Due in more than one year and less than five years 131 149

Due in more than five years 0 0

Total 326 306

The lease liabilities relate substantially to vehicles. The agreements are not cancellable in mid-term.

46. Off-balance sheet commitments 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Undrawn credit facilities 660 036 584 241

The bank has EUR 1 million as off-balance sheet commitments on behalf of companies included in the same Group.

         Other collateral

43. Collateral provided 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Receivables from credit institutions* 20 600 7 460

* S-Bank has provided collateral on the basis of agreements relating to derivative trading (ISDA/CSA)

47. Collateral received in transfer as referred to in the Financial Collateral Act

Nothing to report

44. Pension liabilities

The statutory pension security for the personnel has been arranged through LähiTapiola General Mutual Insurance 
Company.

48. Broking receivables and payables

Nothing to report

49. Other off-balance sheet arrangements

Nothing to report

NOTES ON COLLATERAL AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES,  
EUR THOUSAND
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NOTES ON STAFF AND MANAGEMENT

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS, EUR THOUSAND

2012 2011

50. Personnel
Average  
number

Number on  
31 Dec 2012

Average  
number

Number on  
31 Dec 2011

Permanent full-time staff 130 134 116 123

Permanent part-time staff 35 38 23 31

Fixed-term staff 4 10 5 4

Total 169 182 144 158

Salaries and fees paid to management  
(EUR thousand)   2012 2011

Managing Director and his deputy   355 352

Executive Board   No fees paid

The amount of loans granted to Managing Director, his deputy and the Executive Board is stated in the note on related-party lending.

51. Loans and other financial receivables from 
related parties of the credit institution, and 
investments made in such entities and 
guarantees and collateral provided by third 
parties on behalf of such entities for repayment 
of loans.

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Receivables from the public 
and public sector entities

Receivables from the public 
and public sector entities

Basis for classification as a related party

Ownership 4 695 9 975

Management 44 25

Management of holding company 45 29

Total 4 784 10 028

No contract-specific impairment losses associated with related-party lending. The terms of card loans granted to the 
company’s related parties comply with the standard terms and conditions of lending to the public.
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OTHER NOTES

NOTES ON SHARE OWNERSHIP, EUR THOUSAND

52.  Holdings in other companies

S-Asiakaspalvelu Oy, domiciled in Helsinki

Shareholding 100%  

Equity (EUR thousand) 73

Result for the period (EUR thousand) 21

S-Crosskey Ab, domiciled in Mariehamn 

Shareholding 40%  

Equity (EUR thousand) 12

Result for the period (EUR thousand) -3

Kiinteistö Oy Lempäälän terminaali, domiciled in Helsinki

Shareholding 100%  

Equity (EUR thousand) 50

Result for the period (EUR thousand) 0

Kiinteistö Oy Limingan terminaali, domiciled in Helsinki

Shareholding 100%  

Equity (EUR thousand) 50

Result for the period (EUR thousand) 0

53. Note on trustee services and total amount of customer funds

Nothing to report

NOTE ON AUDIT FEES, EUR THOUSAND

54. Information on the auditors' fees 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Auditing 92 103

Other services 28 91
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